University of New Mexico

UNM Digital Repository

Psychology ETDs

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Summer 7-15-2022

Exploring Components for a Family-Focused Intervention for Families with a Child Diagnosed with Cancer and Other Chronic Illnesses

Nicole Kubinec University of New Mexico - Main Campus

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/psy_etds



Part of the Child Psychology Commons, Clinical Psychology Commons, and the Health Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Kubinec, Nicole. "Exploring Components for a Family-Focused Intervention for Families with a Child Diagnosed with Cancer and Other Chronic Illnesses." (2022). https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/psy_etds/ 357

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at UNM Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Psychology ETDs by an authorized administrator of UNM Digital Repository. For more information, please contact disc@unm.edu.

Nicole Kubinec
Candidate
Psychology Department
This dissertation is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication:
Approved by the Dissertation Committee:
Sarah Erickson, Chairperson
Davood Tofighi
Bruce Smith
Ryan Kelly
Eric Zimak

Exploring Components for a Family-Focused Intervention for Families with a Child Diagnosed with Cancer and Other Chronic Illnesses

By

Nicole Kubinec

B.S. Hope College, 2012 M.P.H. University of Michigan, 2014

DISSERTATION

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy Psychology

The University of New Mexico Albuquerque, New Mexico

July, 2022

Exploring Components for a Family-Focused Intervention for Families with a Child Diagnosed with Cancer and Other Chronic Illnesses

Nicole Kubinec

B.S. Hope College, 2012 M.P.H. University of Michigan, 2014 Ph.D. University of New Mexico, 2022

Abstract

Chronic illnesses are often life-long and affect academic performance, social development, psychological well-being, and family functioning. The broad effects of childhood chronic illnesses are often assessed using measures of child health-related quality of life (HRQL). Parent factors (parental distress, perceptions of child vulnerability, overprotection) and family factors (maintaining rituals, open communication, positive coping) have been associated with changes in child HRQL. This study sought to discover how parent and family factors were associated with child HRQL, and how such factors were perceived by families for inclusion in future interventions. Results demonstrated that parental perceptions of child vulnerability were associated with both family factors and child HRQL. Open communication and parental positive coping were also significant predictors of child HRQL. Open ended questions were consistent with quantitative results. Taken together, this specific targets for an intervention should include parental perceptions of child vulnerability, positive coping, and open family communication.

Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
List of Tables	vi
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
Study Aims	1
Family-Based Intervention	3
Health Related Quality of Life in Pediatric Cancer Patients	4
Children's Psychological Functioning	6
Parental Factors that May Negatively Impact HRQL	9
Parental Distress	10
Parental Perception of Child Vulnerability	14
Parental Overprotective Behaviors	18
Conclusion and Integration	20
Family Factors that May Positively Impact HRQL	21
Family Structure and Characteristics	22
Attachment	27
Conclusion	29
Prior Interventions for Children Undergoing Cancer Treatment	30
Family Interventions	30
Family Functioning and Prevention	35
Chapter 2 The Current Study	40
Chapter 3 Methods	46
Participants	46

Measures	47
Demographics	48
Parental Perceptions of Vulnerability	48
Parental Overprotection	48
Parental Distress	49
Parental Coping Strategies	49
Family Communication	50
Parenting Styles	51
Child Health-Related Quality of Life	52
Attachment Script Assessment	52
Qualitative Questions	53
Initial Protocol	54
Protocol Changes Due to Covid-19	55
Chapter 4 Statistical Analysis	56
Data Analysis	56
Sample Size	56
Methodology for Aim 1	56
Methodology for Aim 2	57
Methodology for Aim 3	57
Analytic Changes Due to Covid-19	58
Chapter 5 Results	60
Descriptive Statistics	60
Associations with Demographic Variables	60

Aim 161
Coping Skill Utilization61
Family Conversation Orientation
Family Conformity63
Family Openness63
Negative Parenting Style64
Child HRQL65
Aim 266
Aim 367
Chapter 6 Discussion71
Summary of Findings71
Aim 171
Aim 2
Aim 381
Clinical Implications85
Limitations and Future Directions90
Chapter 7 Conclusion95
Tables97
References

List of Tables

Table 1. Means and frequencies for all dependent and independent variables) 7
Table 2. Correlations and ANOVA of sociodemographic variables by family, parent,	
and child measures	99
Table 3. Correlations between family variables, child HRQL, and parent variables10	00
Table 4. Coping skill utilization predicted by parental perceptions of child	
vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental stress	01
Table 5. Family conversation orientation predicted by child sex, parental perceptions	
of child vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental stress10	02
Table 6. Family conformity orientation predicted by child cancer diagnosis, parental	
perceptions of child vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental stress10	03
Table 7. Family openness predicted by parental perceptions of child vulnerability,	
parental overprotection, and parental stress	04
Table 8. Negative parenting style predicted by parental perceptions of child	
vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental stress	05
Table 9. Child HRQL predicted by parental education, parental perceptions of child	
vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental stress	06
Table 10. Child HRQL predicted by child age, family communication, coping skill	
utilization, and parenting style10	07
Table 11. Kappa scores between consensus codes and blind coder for themes on	
each open-ended question	08
Table 12. Responses to open-ended questions	09

Chapter 1

Introduction

Chronic illnesses have been given many definitions by different authors; however, they are generally those that disrupt school attendance and schoolwork; disrupt participation in normal childhood activities; and require either frequent medical attention, regular visits to a hospital, or consistent medication use (Compas et al., 2012). Not to mention, chronic illnesses generally have long durations, they do not spontaneously resolve, and they are never completely cured (Compas et al., 2012). Given advances in medical care, diagnoses that previously were classified as acute are now considered chronic. For example, the increase in survival rates among childhood cancer patients has shifted the focus of research to long-term outcomes for childhood cancer survivors. This has led to a reclassification of pediatric cancer as a childhood chronic illness.

Chronic illnesses among children pose a large public health and financial burden to both the health care system in general, and to families of children with a chronic illness. Likewise, many children with a chronic illness may have a hard time adjusting to their illness and chronic illness may disrupt a child's ability to adjust to life stressors (Wallander & Varni, 1998). This has placed an increased research emphasis on overall quality of life for children with chronic illness. Current understanding of child adjustment and wellbeing focus on morbidity, emotional dysfunction, and behavioral problems faced by long-term survivors and children with chronic illnesses (Harding, 2001; Spieth and Harris, 1996). Collectively, these domains are considered child health-related quality of life (HRQL), recognized by the World Health Organization as the multidimensional way to describe child adjustment and wellbeing related to social, physical, cognitive, and psychological functioning.

Study Aims

The goal of the proposed study is to analyze potential factors that can be targeted for a primary prevention intervention focused on improving the functioning of the family as a whole in order to improve the health-related quality of life (HRQL) for the child diagnosed with cancer specifically and chronic illnesses more generally. Much of the literature regarding child HRQL has been looked at in a variety of chronic illness diagnoses. Although this study seeks to discover factors that would improve the functioning of the family as a whole for children with cancer, those same factors are likely similar across illness groups. Thus, a broad sample of children with multiple chronic illnesses was collected. Individual components of family functioning, such as family cohesion (Santos et al., 2015), family coping (Kupst et al., 1995), family communication (Varni et al., 1996), maintaining family rituals and activities (Markson & Fiese, 2000), and maintaining a supportive family environment (Corey et al., 2008) have been shown to influence a child's health-related quality of life. Thus, it can be concluded that improving multiple facets of family functioning, rather than just a component or just parental distress, would also improve a child's HRQL. To this end, HRQL will be briefly examined in the context of pediatric chronic illness, parental factors that may negatively impact child HRQL will be discussed in detail, potential family factors that may positively impact child HRQL will be discussed, and then previous interventions will be evaluated from the lens of a family systems approach. Because children are embedded within their family context, it is important to look at multiple aspects of family functioning when discussing prevention techniques. Since parents (or primary caregivers) generally maintain the family dynamic (i.e., the way families interact with one another), particularly when children are very young, many of the proposed factors will target parental functioning (i.e., helping parents improve their conversation style with

their children). It is important to note that standards for psychosocial care for pediatric cancer patients and their families were developed by a special committee in 2015 (Wiener et al., 2015); however, the standards developed by this committee (i.e., child access to interventions, parental access to interventions, sibling access to interventions) take an individualistic focus and do not account for the importance of the family dynamic. Since pediatric cancer patients, and all children with chronic illnesses, are dependent on their families for care and support, improving the health of the family system will likely improve the health of the individual constituents. This does not deny the importance of the standards of care outlined by the committee; however, the current study differs from the proposed standards of care in that its focus is primary prevention, and its method of action is aimed at the family system as a whole.

Family-Based Interventions

Family systems theory posits that the relationships between members, maintained by patterns of behavior and communication, create a whole unit that cannot be reduced further (Bavelas & Segal, 1982). Another component of family systems theory suggests that the behavior of one member of a family impacts the other members of the family (Newton-John, 2022). Thus, attempting to focus on a specific attitude, behavior, or skill of an individual member of a family unit for an outcome would, by definition, not qualify as a family intervention according to the family system's theory. It is important to note the definition of a family system prior to proposing a family-based intervention because the literature currently fails to adequately define the family system when self-designating an intervention "family-based."

When considering family functioning within a family systems framework, family functioning includes the patterns of relationships between members of the family, rather than key factors of an individual member (Patterson & Garwick, 1994). Within this definition, family functioning includes several components that define how members of the family relate to one another: communication styles, expression of affection, flexibility, problem-solving style, and behavioral control (Patternson & Garwick, 1994). Therefore, an intervention would be considered family-based if it accounted for patterns of communication, expression of affection, flexibility, problem-solving, and/or behavioral control between members of the family. A family-based intervention would also consider which factors shift the overall patterns within the family unit in positive or negative directions. Unfortunately, much of the literature on family-based interventions focuses on specific parental outcomes, such as parental distress, rather than family outcomes. Although a focus on parental distress itself does not necessarily disqualify a study as family-based, since it has the potential to shift the patterns of relationships within the family, parental distress as an outcome would indicate an individual focus rather than a family systems focus. Thus, the current "family-based" intervention literature will be further explored within this study, with an aim at critically examining the measured outcomes from a family systems lens.

Health-Related Quality of Life

The World Health Organization takes a multidimensional approach to health-related quality of life, including domains of disease state and physical symptoms, functional status, psychological functioning, and social functioning (Harding, 2001; Spieth and Harris, 1996).

Thus, discussing the impact of childhood chronic illness on HRQL requires an integration of

research looking at the impact on physical health, functional status, psychological health, and social functioning.

Overall, it appears that the experience of childhood chronic illness can have broad impacts across many domains of HRQL. Pain, fatigue, and physical changes due to treatment have been shown to impact the physical domain of health-related quality of life (Hedström et al., 2003; Whitsett et al., 2008). In addition, children currently undergoing treatment for chronic illnesses experience high levels of fear, distress, and anxiety related to medical procedures and uncertainty about their future (Hedström et al., 2003; Nunes et al., 2017; Robiero et al., 2009; Wright et al., 2009). After treatment has ended, childhood cancer survivors, and children with other chronic illnesses, often face increased levels of depression, anxiety, and PTSD symptoms (Pless & Stein, 1996; Rourke et al., 2015). Part of the psychological distress faced by children being treated for cancer and childhood cancer survivors is directly related to the physical effects and impairments from cancer treatments (Rourke et al., 2015). Children with other chronic illnesses have also reported reductions psychological health related to physical effects related to their diagnosis (Sawyer et al., 2004). Physical changes from cancer treatments also influence social functioning among childhood cancer patients, as well as children with diabetes, asthma, and cystic fibrosis (Abrams et al., 2007; Sawyer et al., 2004). Further social problems in children with chronic illnesses are due to increases in sensitivity, social isolation, decreases in self-confidence, and prolonged isolation from their peers (Nunes et al., 2017; Pan et al., 2017). Finally, a combination of functional impairments in cognitive abilities and problems with social functioning often influence a child's ability to reintegrate into school (Abrams et al., 2007; Nunes et al., 2017; Pan et al., 2017; Sawyer et al., 2004; Vannatta et al., 2009). Thus, there is

evidence to suggest that the domains of health-related quality of life are often interrelated in children with chronic illnesses.

Children's Psychological Functioning

Of particular interest to psychological-based work is that although many children adjust well after the initial distress of a chronic illness diagnosis, there is considerable evidence to suggest that pediatric patients have an increased risk of psychological distress both during and after treatment. This contrasts with early speculation, which suggested that children were resilient and would habituate to the stressors of treatment. However, it is now known that not all children are able to become accustomed to the stressors of hospitalization and medical procedures (Patenaude & Kupst, 2005). Children also do not spontaneously learn to cope with treatment (Patenaude & Kupst, 2005). In addition, the age of the child at diagnosis often influences the level of distress the child experiences. For example, during treatment, young children (0-3 years of age) often feel distress and boredom at being expected to remain confined to a hospital bed or a room for the duration of the treatment (Hedström et al., 2003).

During treatment, pediatric patients may have elevated levels of worry regarding medical procedures (Nunes et al., 2017). For example, researchers found that children who had received a Port-a-Cath experienced intense worry and fear of pain before the procedure (Robiero et al., 2009). Many of the children in the study described being worried and afraid of the unknown when they received new treatments or diagnostic procedures (Robiero et al., 2009). Particularly in young children, behavioral signs of distress are often exhibited during medical procedures (Dahlquist et al., 1994). These children also show significant anxiety

when anticipating another procedure (Dahlquist et al., 1994). This indicates that even very young children experience intense worry and fear of medical procedures.

Other stressors for children during chronic illness treatment include uncertainty and worry about death (Hildenbrand et al., 2011; Nunes et al., 2017; Wright et al., 2009). In fact, one study found that for children between 8 and 12 years, fear of death may be the most emotionally distressing part of the cancer experience (Hedström et al., 2003). Among other chronic illness populations, fear of pain, fear of missing out on important life events, and fear about long-term physical consequences, were also reported to be highly distressing (Wright et al., 2009). Other children experience worry and distress over their appearance during medical treatment. Fear of hair falling out, scars, fluctuations in weight, or other physical changes due to medications or surgeries were reported by many adolescents (Hildenbrand et al., 2011; Nunes et al., 2017; Wright et al., 2009). In fact, changes in their physical appearance were particularly distressing for adolescent cancer patients (Hedström et al., 2003; Nunes et al., 2017). These physical changes are associated with decreases in selfesteem and self-confidence (Nunes et al., 2017). Among adolescents, self-esteem is more intimately tied with physical sense of self than at any prior point in development (Abrams et al., 2007). Adolescents, therefore, are uniquely positioned to be distressed by the physical changes that occur during medical treatments. Other studies of adolescents have reported that the reaction of other to an adolescent's appearance (i.e., staring) may further negatively impact an adolescent's self-perception (Abrams et al., 2007).

Among pediatric cancer survivors, there is mixed evidence about the psychological long-term effects of the cancer experience. One study that compared pediatric cancer survivors to sibling controls found that pediatric cancer survivors had an increased risk of

developing depressive symptoms (Zebrack et al., 2002). In fact, pediatric cancer survivors were 1.6 to 1.7 times more likely to experience levels of depressive symptoms high enough to be clinically diagnosed (Zebrack et al., 2002). A similar study found that adolescent pediatric cancer survivors had slight increases in depressive and anxiety symptoms compared to matched sibling controls (Schultz et al., 2007). So, although most childhood cancer survivors have mental health rates comparable to healthy controls, a subset of children continue to experience psychological distress (Rourke et al., 2015). For example, pediatric cancer survivors were twice as likely as their siblings to report clinical levels of emotional distress (Zeltzer et al., 2009). In addition, roughly 25% of adolescents and young adults who are in the survivorship period of pediatric cancer report higher levels of global psychological distress than the average adolescent or young adult (Rourke et al., 2015). A study of Swedish children both on and off treatment found that psychological risk was higher for children during the post-treatment period (Von Essen et al., 2000). Post-treatment Swedish pediatric cancer survivors had higher rates of depression and anxiety and lower levels of psychological well-being and self-esteem than their healthy peers (Von Essen et al., 2000).

In addition, most adolescent survivors of pediatric cancer have rates of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) comparable with non-ill adolescents (Rourke et al., 2015). However, a large proportion of adolescent survivors of pediatric cancer report some symptoms of PTSD but not enough to meet the full diagnostic criteria (Rourke et al., 2015). In fact, between 10% and 20% of adolescent survivors of pediatric cancer meet at least 75% of the needed diagnostic criteria (Brown et al., 2003; Erickson & Steiner, 2001; Kazak et al., 2010). Another study found that half of all study participants had reexperiencing symptoms of PTSD after being reminded of their cancer treatment (Kazak et al., 2001). A pilot study of

children who had received a bone marrow transplant found that a subset of children experienced PTSD symptoms similar to children who had experienced a violent and lifethreatening experience (Stuber et al., 1991). These symptoms were found to persist even a year after the transplant procedure (Stuber et al., 1991). Although most adolescents and young adult survivors of pediatric cancer have only subclinical levels of PTSD symptoms, these may still significantly impact the individual's ability to manage the long-term diagnostic procedures that are involved in cancer survivorship (Rourke et al., 2015).

Other studies have found that pediatric cancer survivors may have increased externalizing behaviors (Allen et. al., 2004; Holmbeck et. al., 2002). Evidence from research on other pediatric chronic illnesses have also suggested increases in behavioral problems compared to healthy controls (Colleti et. al., 2008; Mullins et. al., 2007). However, other studies have indicated that pediatric cancer survivors may have lower levels of behavioral problems compared to other children with chronic illnesses (Patenaude & Kupst, 2005).

Research suggests that these deficits in psychological functioning are not exclusive to pediatric cancer patients. In general, children with chronic illnesses are more likely than their healthy peers to have difficulties with psychological adjustment (Swanston et al., 2000). Similar to the above discussion of children with pediatric cancer, children with a chronic illness diagnosis are at higher risk for developing emotional problems (Pless & Stein, 1996) and are twice as likely to be diagnosed with a psychiatric disorder (Cadman et al., 1987). Thus, it can be concluded that psychological functioning is impacted by chronic illness diagnoses generally and pediatric cancer diagnoses more specifically.

Parental Factors that May Negatively Impact HRQL

The parent-child relationship is an important source of comfort and support for a child undergoing a stressful experience (Mullins et. al., 2004). During painful and invasive cancer-related procedures, parents who are able to remain calm can help children remain calm as well (Blount et al., 1991). In fact, research suggests that children, regardless of health status or diagnosis, prefer to have their parents present during all painful medical procedures (Young, 2005). However, parents who are unable to regulate their own emotions or react to their distress may reduce the health-related quality of life for children with chronic illnesses. This indicates that although some of the reductions in health-related quality of life may result directly from the experience of pediatric chronic illness and its treatments, these reductions may also be related to or mediated by parental behaviors. In the literature, three parental behaviors have been named as likely influencers of pediatric health-related quality of life: parental distress, parental perceptions of vulnerability, and parental overprotection. Each of these variables has been found to impact both the parent-child relationship and child adjustment.

Parental Distress

Children who are securely attached to their parents will reference their parents during stressful circumstances to ensure that they are behaving appropriately. Thus, it is not surprising that there is an association between parental distress and child distress at a child's illness (Robinson et al., 2006). In fact, although children generally prefer to have their parents present during procedures, parental anxiety over a medical procedure has been shown to increase a child's distress during the procedure (Jay et al., 1983). Parental distress when faced with an ill child may be a universal principle. Studies suggest that high levels of parental distress are common in families caring for a chronically ill child (Peirce et. al., 2016).

Pai et. al, 2007; Roddenberry & Renk, 2008; Tsai et. al., 2013), suggesting that parental distress is an important factor across different chronic illness diagnoses. A study of pediatric cancer patients and their families found that mothers of children with cancer had high levels of distress (Pai et. al., 2007). Levels of maternal distress may remain high throughout the child's treatment. Overall, meta-analytic data show that high levels of distress in parents of children diagnosed with chronic illnesses may vary by type and time since diagnosis (Roddenberry & Renk, 2008). Thus, parents often respond with high levels of distress to child chronic illness, but the level of distress varies.

Although most parents experience distress at their child's chronic illness diagnosis, parental coping strategies and ability to remain a secure base for their child vary. Parents who are able to remain calm and help distract and comfort their children are able to help their children cope with the stressors inherent with illness treatment and hospitalization (Jay et al., 1983). Consequently, responsive parenting during medical procedures has been shown to be important (Jacobsen et al., 1990). Parents who accurately interpret indicators of child distress and gave appropriate explanations or distractions had children who were less distressed during needle insertions (Jacobsen et al., 1990). However, parents who were unable to cope with their own levels of distress generally have children who cope poorly and are unable to adjust to the stressors of the cancer experience (Jay et al., 1983). Similarly, longitudinal studies have suggested that families who cope poorly at the time of a leukemia diagnosis generally continue to cope poorly at 10-year follow-up (Kupst et al., 1995). Another study of children with children with sickle cell disease found that higher parental distress at baseline was associated with increased number of hospital visits and poorer disease management at one year follow-up (Barakat et al., 2007). This indicates that parental distress not only

influences child quality of life during chronic illness treatment, but that parental distress and coping may continue to influence child quality of life into the survivorship/long-term management period.

Parental distress is also associated with overall decrease in family functioning, which is an important variable in the health-related quality of life and overall adjustment for chronically ill children and their siblings (Streisand et al., 2003). Overall family functioning has been found to be a buffer against paternal distress for young boys with cancer (Robinson et al., 2006). It is speculated that if one parent is distressed, other family members are able to display positive coping mechanisms and remain a secure base for the child if the overall family system is positive. However, poor family functioning and poor family coping during the cancer experience is associated with reductions in health-related quality of life in pediatric cancer patients (Robinson et al., 2006). Finally, parental distress is associated with decreased physical health per child self-report among pediatric cancer patients (Pierce et al., 2016), reduced lung function in children with cystic fibrosis (Patterson et al., 1993), and more asthma attacks and hospitalizations among children with asthma (Weinstein et al., 1992). Other studies have suggested that parents who are able to overcome distress and maintain a supportive parenting style have children who are more adherent to cancer treatment regimens (Manne et al., 1993). Parents with a more supportive parenting style are more responsive to child distress and had better family functioning (Manne et al., 1993).

Considering socio-ecological principles and attachment theories, a child's level of adjustment is dependent on their family system (Broffenbrenner, 1979; Bowlby, 1958).

Understanding the importance of the family system makes the relationship between parental distress and child adjustment clearer. Beyond evidence from families coping with child

chronic illness, children of mothers who struggle with depression display increased levels of internalizing and externalizing behaviors (Robinson et al., 2006). Additionally, several studies have indicated that parental distress is associated with increased behavioral problems in children with chronic illnesses (Colleti et. al., 2008; Mullins et. al., 2007). One study found that pediatric cancer patients displayed increased acting out behaviors and lower positive social behaviors when their parents had higher levels of parental distress (Colleti et al., 2008). A longitudinal study found that the association between parental distress and child externalizing symptoms was still operative during the one-year follow-up (Fedele et al., 2011). Children of mothers who experience anxiety are also more likely to display anxiety symptoms (Robinson et al., 2006). And parental distress has been linked to increases in child illness uncertainty (Mullins et. al., 2007).

Thus, children may be more vulnerable to internalizing symptoms when their parents experience increased levels of internalizing symptoms after a child's chronic illness diagnosis (Robinson et al., 2006; Szulczewski et al., 2017). In fact, a study of adolescents with cancer indicated that parenting distress was associated with increased child distress and poor child adjustment (Trask et. al., 2003). Evidence suggests that parents of children with cancer who display higher levels of distress have children who display lower levels of emotional, behavioral, and social adjustment (Colleti et al., 20008). Other studies also suggest a direct link between parental distress and child distress (Robinson et al., 2006). The link between maternal distress and child distress has been well researched and has been shown to be robust. In fact, one study sought to find any mediational or moderation variables that may influence the association between maternal distress and child distress during cancer treatment (Robinson et al., 2006). However, they found that the main effect of maternal

distress on child distress was pervasive and was not influenced by any of the factors examined in the study (Robinson et al., 2006). The same study also looked at the effect of father distress on child distress during cancer treatment. They found that younger children and male children were more influenced by paternal distress (Robinson et al., 2006).

It is clear that parental distress is related to child adjustment and wellbeing. This may be due to changes in behavior due to parental distress. This is exemplified by the research suggesting that parental distress decreases child treatment compliance and medication adherence (Spinetta et al., 2002). In turn, decreased adherence is associated with increased physical discomfort among pediatric oncology patients (Spinetta et al., 2002). It may also be due to the child's own perceptions being influenced by his parent's distress. Parental distress and perceived child vulnerability have been found to be associated with poor emotional functioning among chronically ill children (Colleti et. al., 2008). However, relations between parental distress and child emotional functioning have been found to be mediated by parental perceptions of child vulnerability in children with diabetes, asthma, and cystic fibrosis (Carpentier et al., 2008; Mullins et. al., 2004). Other studies have shown significant associations between parental distress and parental perceptions of child vulnerability in parents of preterm infants (De Ocampo et al., 2003). Thus, increased levels of parental distress in the face of a child's chronic illness may influence the development of parental perceptions of child vulnerability.

Parental Perceptions of Vulnerability

One important part of the parent-child bond is the parent's perception of the child.

Parental perception of child vulnerability is the perception from one or more parent that their child is particularly vulnerable and sensitive (Thomasgard and Metz, 1996). This generally

involves parental attitudes and beliefs, which may influence parent-child interactions (Mullins et. al., 2004; Carpentier et al., 2008). Having a child with a chronic illness increases the likelihood that a parent will perceive their child as vulnerable (Thomasgard, 1998). This perception of child vulnerability may increase the likelihood that the parent-child bond will be strained or disrupted (Allen et. al., 2004). Research indicates that parental perceptions of vulnerability have profound effects on all domains of child HRQL in a variety of chronic illness diagnoses (Allen et. al., 2004; Carpentier et al., 2008; Colleti et. al., 2008; Hullmann, et al., 2010; Mullins et. al., 2004; Mullins et. al., 2007).

First, parental perceptions of child vulnerability influence a child's perception of their own physical health. For example, research has shown that when parents perceive their child as more vulnerable, their child is more likely to act sick (Walker and Zeman, 1992). This can form a cycle where the parent views their increasingly "sick" child as becoming worse and thus seeks more care for their child. This is seen in research when parental perceptions of child vulnerability increase the likelihood that mothers will seek increased pain management options for their child (Vrijmoet-Wiersma et. al., 2010). Moreover, parental perceptions of child vulnerability increase the likelihood that parents will complain about the care offered to their child by medical personnel (Connelly et al., 2012). Increased medical procedures and emergency room visits have been shown to reduce child perceptions of health-related quality of life (Barbarin, 1990). Additionally, statistical models have indicated that the relationship between parental distress and health care utilization is mediated through parental perceptions of vulnerability (Connelly et al., 2012). Thus, parents who view their child as more vulnerable have children who behave as if they are more vulnerable, which in turn further influences the parent to behave as if their child is vulnerable.

This ties into research that has indicated that parental perceptions of child vulnerability increase child illness uncertainty, especially among adolescents (Mullins et. al., 2007). Illness uncertainty is the perception of some illness related doom constantly hanging over you (Cohen, 1999). Models of illness uncertainty suggest that it is comprised of the following four components: "perceived ambiguity concerning the state of the illness, complexity regarding treatment, lack of information regarding the seriousness of the illness and prognosis, and perceived unpredictability of the illness course" (Mishel, 1984). Children may feel that they are not in control of their illness and that it may swoop down and harm them at any minute. It is speculated that when parents hold fearful and uncertain beliefs about their child's illness, children may internalize these beliefs and become fearful and uncertain about their own illness (Mullins et. al., 2007). Thus, parental perceptions that the child is vulnerable are communicated to the child through parental fear and uncertainty and the child comes to believe that he or she is vulnerable, which increases illness uncertainty (Steele et al., 1997). Finally, illness uncertainty has been linked to several negative outcomes and poor health related quality of life. Research suggests that child illness uncertainty increases psychological distress in children with chronic illnesses (Mullins et al., 1997). Evidence also shows that child illness uncertainty increases depressive symptoms (Hoff et al., 2002; White et al., 2005) and child anxiety symptoms (Hommel et. al., 2003). Given that psychological functioning is part of HRQL, illness uncertainty would decrease child HRQL.

Parental perceptions of child vulnerability have also been associated with increased child emotional dysregulation, anxiety symptoms, depressive symptoms, and poor adjustment to chronic illness (Carpentier et al., 2008; Colleti et. al., 2008; Mullins et. al., 2004; Mullins et. al., 2007). A study of pediatric cancer patients found that children had poorer emotional

adjustment when their parents reported higher levels of perceptions of vulnerability (Colleti et al., 2008). This implies that when parents communicate, either directly or implicitly, that the child is more vulnerable, the child is more prone to experience anxiety and depression symptoms (Colleti et al., 2008). Another study found that perceptions that a child is vulnerable may mediate the association between parental distress and anxiety among chronically ill children (Lopez et al., 2008). This suggests that distressed parents may communicate their fears over child vulnerability, such as described by Colleti and colleagues (2008), or it may change parental behaviors which indirectly communicate to children that they are vulnerable (Lopez et al., 2008). A longitudinal study sought to look at long-term outcomes for children with cancer and parental perceptions of vulnerability. The researchers found that parental perceptions of vulnerability at time 1 were associated with child internalizing symptoms at follow-up (follow-up ranged from 12-29 months) (Fedele et al., 2011). Of particular interest in this study was that parental perceptions of vulnerability declined in most parents between time 1 and follow-up; however, the presence of parental perceptions of vulnerability at time 1 were strong enough to influence child emotional adjustment over a year later (Fedele et al., 2011). This suggests that parental initial reaction may have more influence over their children than later parental actions.

Although not all studies of parental perceptions of vulnerability are in children with cancer, since cancer is considered a pediatric chronic illness, it is justifiable that parental perceptions of vulnerability should result in similar outcomes across chronic illnesses. For example, one study showed that children with pulmonary illnesses, whose parents perceived them as more vulnerable, showed higher levels of distress in social situations (Anthony et al., 2003). These children displayed higher levels of distress in general social situations and to

novel social situations (Anthony et al., 2003). An additional study of parental perceptions of vulnerability in parents of children with type 1 diabetes found that increased levels of parental perceptions of vulnerability were associated with increased depressive symptoms in children (Mullins et al., 2004). Another study of parents of children with juvenile arthritis found that parental perceptions of child vulnerability increased child depression and anxiety symptoms (Anthony et al., 2011). This further supports studies that parental perceptions of vulnerability reduce emotional adjustment in children with cancer.

Parental perceptions of child vulnerability also increase behavior problems in chronically ill children (Allen et. al., 2004). In fact, parents of preterm infants who perceived their child as vulnerable at the time of discharge from the neonatal intensive care unit were more likely to have a child with externalizing problems two years later (De Ocampo et al., 2003). Another study done in children diagnosed with cancer found that parental perceptions of child vulnerability were associated with increased child behavioral problems over a year later (Fedele et al., 2011).

Parental Overprotective Behaviors

Some authors suggest that parental perceptions of child vulnerability induce a particular parental behavior termed parental overprotective behavior (Levy, 1980; Vrijmoet-Wiersma et. al., 2010). However, others have suggested that parental overprotective behaviors may stem from an attempt to exert control in a situation rife with uncertainty (Mullins et al., 2007). Parental overprotective behavior was first defined by Levy (1931) to categorize parental behaviors that included excessive physical or social contact, prolonged infantilization, active discouragement of independent behavior and social maturity, and either a dominating excess or an overindulgent absence of parental control. Parents of children with

a chronic illness have shown increased levels of overprotective behavior in relation to parents of healthy children (Holmbeck et. al., 2002). There is mixed evidence regarding the link between parental overprotective behaviors and child health related quality of life. Some studies have found parental overprotection is linked to poorer child adjustment (Levy, 1980; Vrijmoet-Wiersma et. al., 2010). However, Mullins and colleagues did not find a relationship between parental overprotective behaviors and illness uncertainty in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus (2007).

There has been some speculation that during periods of acute illness, parental overprotective behaviors may be adaptive and helpful because the children are actually more vulnerable and need more care during this time (Colleti et al., 2008). For example, a study of children currently receiving treatment for pediatric cancer found no association between parental overprotective behaviors and child emotional, social, or behavioral adjustment (Colleti et al., 2008). However, when that same sample was tracked overtime, parental overprotective behaviors at time 1 were associated with increased internalizing symptoms and behavioral problems at follow-up over a year later (Fedele et al., 2011). This suggests that although these parental behaviors were not harmful during treatment, they have long-term consequences for child behavior and emotional adjustment (Fedele et al., 2011).

Other studies done in children with chronic illnesses have also found that parental overprotective behaviors influence child emotional adjustment. A study of children with spina bifida found an association between parental overprotective behaviors and child internalizing symptoms (Holmbeck et al., 2002). Another study done in children with cystic fibrosis found that parental overprotective behaviors were associated with reduced psychosocial functioning (Cappelli et al., 1989). A study done on children undergoing cancer

treatment found that parental overprotective behaviors were associated with an increase in child emotional problems (Williams et al., 2014).

Further studies found that parental overprotective behaviors influence child behavioral responses. For example, Holmbeck and colleagues found that children with spina bifida whose parents displayed higher levels of overprotective behaviors displayed higher levels of externalizing behaviors, particularly defiant and non-compliant behaviors (2002). In fact, parental overprotective behaviors were associated with reduced child behavioral autonomy and decision-making skills in chronically ill children (Holmbeck et al., 2002). A study of pediatric cancer patients looked at the overindulgent type of parental overprotective behaviors. The study cited that parents who did set limits on child behavior often did not want to punish their ill child, particularly if the child was upset. They found that lax parenting, an inability to set rules and consequences, and overprotection was associated with child behavioral difficulties (Williams et al., 2014).

Conclusion and Integration

Evidence suggests that although children prefer to have their parents present during stressful events, such as chronic illness diagnosis and treatment, this is sometimes beneficial and sometimes leads to poor outcomes. Parents who are able to be supportive and responsive have children who are more resilient and who cope better in response to stressors. In contrast, parents who are unable to cope effectively or provide responsive care have children who experience greater adjustment problems. First, a wealth of evidence indicates that increasing levels of parental distress in the face of a child's chronic illness may influence the development of parental perceptions of child vulnerability. Research suggests that parental perceptions of child vulnerability are associated with child health related quality of life. It is

speculated that parental perceptions of vulnerability influence both child perceptions and parent behaviors. The first pathway was confirmed with an abundance of evidence that parental perceptions influence child perceptions, such as increasing child illness uncertainty. Social referencing, which occurs in the context of the parent-child attachment relationship, may explain how children internalize parental perceptions. These child perceptions then influence child behaviors and child health related quality of life. Other research suggests that parental perceptions of child vulnerability increase parental overprotective behaviors. Thus, the emotional, behavioral, and social adjustment of children are influenced by a complex network of parental emotions, attitudes, and behaviors.

In addition, there are several demographic variables that influence a parent's ability to cope with the distress that is inherent in learning of and managing a child's chronic or life-threatening illness. First, evidence suggests that parental education influences the ability of a child to respond to their chronic illness in a way that promotes child well-being and adjustment. One study even found that parental education significantly predicted parental overprotective behaviors (Thomasgard & Metz, 1997). The same study also found that parental education and family socio-economic status significantly predicted parental perceptions of vulnerability (Thomasgard & Metz, 1997). There are also differences in child responses to parental distress. Children who are younger and who identify as male are more influenced by paternal distress than female and older children (Robinson et al., 2006).

Additionally, maternal distress influenced all children regardless of demographic variables (Robinson et al., 2006).

Family Factors that May Positively Impact HRQL

Evidence suggests that parental distress, attitudes, and parental behaviors can reduce the ability of children with chronic illnesses to adjust and thrive during and after diagnosis. However, evidence also suggests that family and parental factors may also promote resilience and adjustment among children with chronic illnesses. Improving the following family factors during treatment may help prevent negative child outcomes.

Family Structure and Characteristics

Family Rituals. Family routines and rituals are generally an important part of daily life for children. Family rituals can include religious events, such as attending church services and related events, or they can be dinnertime routines (Markson & Fiese, 2000). Understanding the influence of family rituals requires two considerations: the way in which these rituals are an important part of family routine and the way in which these rituals have meaning for the family (Markson & Fiese, 2000). The routine dimension involves how often this ritual is undertaken, who participates and plans the ritual, and who has particular roles in the ritual (Markson & Fiese, 2000). The meaning dimension involves expectations about attendance at the ritual, any forms of expression involved in the ritual, any symbolism the ritual holds, and plans to continue the ritual (Markson & Fiese, 2000). Studies have found that when families maintain family rituals, it may help family members cope with stressors involved in chronic illness (Boyce et al., 1997; Markson & Fiese, 2000; Quittner et al., 1992).

Family rituals are able to help children adjust and cope with chronic illness. A study of children with cystic fibrosis found that the ability of families to maintain family rituals was a better predictor of child adjustment than global family stress (Quittner et al., 1992). Another study of children with asthma found that by building intentional and meaningful family rituals into the family routine, children were able to be more resilient (Markson &

Fiese, 2000). Meaningful family rituals were, in fact, associated with less anxiety in children with asthma (Markson & Fiese, 2000). Not only did family rituals influence children, they also reduced parental distress (Markson & Fiese, 2000). Mothers who found meaning in family rituals and fathers who had family routines endorsed less parental stress when raising a chronically ill child (Markson & Fiese, 2000). Overall, research indicates that chronically ill children whose parents maintain normal family rituals, routines, activities, and traditions have higher ratings of health-related quality of life (Santos et al., 2015).

Family Support. Children who are undergoing medical treatments for chronic illnesses face many stressors. As mentioned above, nausea, fatigue, and pain can be particularly distressing for children undergoing medical treatment (Hedström et al., 2003; Whitsett et al., 2008). However, family support can help to alleviate some of the stress associated with the side-effects of medical treatment for chronic illnesses. One study of adolescents undergoing cancer treatment reported reductions in insomnia during treatment for adolescents who had more family support, but the results only approached statistical significance (Corey et al., 2008). Another study found that parents who had supportive parenting styles that were responsive to child distress had better family functioning during a child's cancer treatment, as well as better child adherence to cancer treatment regimens (Manne et al., 1993). More generally, family support was reported to be essential for children during hospitalizations related to chronic illnesses (Nabor et al., 2019). Research generally indicates that parents who use positive coping mechanisms and distraction strategies with their children during painful procedures can help to reduce child distress (Suzuki & Katz, 2003). In fact, adolescent cancer patients have indicated that even a parental behavior as simple as calmly holding the child's hand during a painful procedure can help ease treatmentrelated pain (Weekes et al., 1993). Children hospitalized with other chronic illnesses have also reported that parents and siblings serve as distractions, which improve their ability to cope with the hardships of hospitalization (Nabors et al., 2018).

Family support, one component of positive parenting, is also able to help improve mood among chronically ill children. A study of adolescents found that perceived family support was associated with better mental health among adolescents hospitalized for cancer treatments or other chronic illnesses (Corey et al., 2008; Nabors et al., 2018). More specifically, increases in perceived family support were associated with decreases in adolescent depressed mood during cancer treatment (Corey et al., 2008). Additionally, parental support has been associated with later teacher reports of more socially acceptable behaviors by children who are reintegrated into a classroom after cancer treatment (Noll et al., 1999). Considering the evidence that children are likely to be more sensitive, more bullied, and have fewer social skills after reintegrating into a classroom after cancer treatment, this is a significant finding. Overall, support is associated with better coping among childhood cancer survivors and children living with chronic illnesses (Kupst & Schulman, 1988; Sanger et al., 1991; Swanston et al., 2000).

Family Openness, Positivity, and Communication. Families who are able to speak openly with one another and provide support to each other cope better in the face of stressors. For example, families that "are flexible, cohesive, find new meaning in life, and communicate and problem-solve effectively" often have better adjustment and psychological health (Haase, 2004). Research indicates that better parental coping is associated with better child adjustment (Suzuki & Kato, 2003). A longitudinal study of the families where at least one child has a cancer diagnosis found that families who had better coping styles had

healthier family coping and adjustment up to ten years after the child was diagnosed with cancer (Kupst et al., 1995).

Additional research discovered that open family communication and family decisions to try to live more in the present moment were associated with better family coping at two years post child cancer diagnosis (Kupst et al., 1984). In fact, open family communication was also associated with better family coping six years post-child cancer diagnosis (Kupst & Schulman, 1988). Another study of young adults with type 1 diabetes found that childhood family connection (operationalized by family warmth and open communication) was associated with better outcomes in young adulthood (Whitaker et al., 2020). Openness was also found to be a resilience factor among families who have a child with a developmental disability (Muir & Strnadová, 2014).

Comparatively, an additional study of children with cancer found that an open and expressive family environment was able to help buffer child distress during the cancer experience (Hammen et al., 2004). In like manner, another study found that directly after a child cancer diagnosis, families that are more cohesive and expressive had children who displayed fewer internalizing symptoms (Varni et al., 1996). An aforementioned study found that a more cohesive and positive family environment can buffer the association between paternal distress and child distress during cancer treatment (Robinson et al., 2006). Family cohesion helps to increase hope among pediatric cancer patients (Santos et al., 2015). Increased levels of hope help to increase health related quality of life and is related to decreased depressive and anxiety symptoms (Germann et al., 2015). Family cohesion and adaptability have also been associated with better adjustment in childhood cancer survivors, children with asthma, and children with diabetes (Hamlett et al., 1992; Rait et al., 1992).

An equally important aspect of family communication involves parental communication with the child about their chronic illness experience. Evidence suggests that even young children who are given direct information about their diagnosis have better outcomes and adjustment to the cancer experience (Last & Van Veldhuizen, 1996; Slavin et al., 1982). Other research suggests that parents who are able to responsively adapt to their child's level of distress and provide appropriate explanations of specific medical procedures have children who are less distressed during needle insertion in cancer treatments (Manne et al., 1993). In fact, oncologists and pediatric physicians have recommended honest and open communication with children regarding their cancer diagnosis and treatment options since the 1980s (Katz & Jay, 1984). Research also indicates that parental communication of general information regarding cancer is associated with lower levels of depressive symptoms and improved self-image among pediatric cancer patients (Jamison et al., 1986; Kvist et al., 1991). Similar findings have been found indicating that parental communication of general cancer information lowers child anxiety about diagnostic and treatment-related procedures (Hockenberry-Eaton & Minick, 1994). Overall, families who have better communication about the cancer experience have lower levels of distress and the child with cancer has greater social functioning and better self-confidence (Spinetta & Maloney, 1978; Varni et al., 1996).

Family Roles and Adaptability. A common theme among families who have a child diagnosed with a chronic illness is the need to adapt and reorganize the family structure. Evidence suggests that the ability of a family to adapt has been shown to be associated with better outcomes among childhood cancer survivors (Rait et al., 1992). Additionally, the ability to reorganize roles has been shown to be important in families with a child diagnosed

with type 1 diabetes (Benoliel, 1975). In fact, the ability of parents to assume the responsibility of a child's treatment and medication schedules has been shown to increase treatment compliance and adherence among pediatric cancer patients (Breitmayer et al., 1991; Breitmayer et al., 1992). Parental assumption of responsibility for a child's cancer care also increases child adjustment (Breitmayer et al., 1991; Breitmayer et al., 1992).

Attachment

Attachment, conceptualized by Bowlby (1969, 1973, 1980), includes the bonds between mothers and their children based on the basic needs for security and affection. He proposed that these bonds, or attachments, were the basis for a child's social and emotional development. Bowlby's initial theories were expounded on by a study that suggest there are specific patterns of attachment between mothers and children: secure, avoidant, and anxious-ambivalent (Ainsworth et al., 1978). Assessment of attachment styles are generally assessed through the Strange Situation, which is a structured observation of how a mother and child interact during a series of separations and reunions between the parent, child, and friendly stranger (Ainsworth et al., 1978). A fourth attachment style, disorganized, largely associated with maltreatment, was added later (Belsky, 2002).

Individuals with secure attachments are thought to perceive stressful events as less threatening and cope better with stressors (Belsky, 2002). Securely attached individuals are generally more open and more willing to seek support from others when needed (Belsky, 2002). Individuals with more insecure attachment styles have been found to be more anxious and more likely to ruminate on negative thoughts and emotions (Belsky, 2002; Feeney, 1999).

Considering socio-ecological principles and attachment theories, children's adjustment is largely dependent on their family system (Broffenbrenner, 1979; Bowlby, 1958). Understanding the importance of the family system makes the relationship between parental distress and child adjustment clearer. A meta-analytic review has demonstrated that children with chronic medical conditions often display more insecure attachment behaviors than healthy children (van Ijzendoorn et al., 1992). It was speculated that this increase might reflect the higher risk of abuse among children with disabilities (van Ijzendoorn et al., 1992). Another speculated reason was that child differences might induce more disorganized parental responses, leading to a higher rate of disorganized attachments among children with medical conditions (van Ijzendoorn et al., 1992). Children with insecure attachments are also more likely to report more pain and somatic symptoms than their securely attached peers (Feeney, 1999). Children's illness behaviors and anxiety have also been found to be associated with insecure attachment styles (Feeney, 1999).

Waters and colleagues (2001) found that mothers who reported at least one stressful life event were 66% more likely to have a child who switched to a more insecure attachment style. Other research indicated that the association between attachment and child disability may be more related to parental attitudes than the child's disability (Howe, 2006). For example, the quality of parenting has been shown to partially mediate the relationship between a child's medical condition and attachment (Clements & Barnett, 2002).

Secure attachment is particularly important among children with chronic illnesses. Children with chronic illnesses have been shown to be more vulnerable to difficulties with adjustment (Swanston et al., 2000), the development of emotional problems (Pless & Stein, 1996), and to be diagnosed with a psychiatric disorder (Cadman et al., 1987). In addition,

insecure attachment styles are also associated with higher reports of pain, somatic symptoms, anxiety, and maladjustment (Feeney, 1999). However, research suggests that when parents can provide a secure base for their child (developmentally appropriate level of support and perceived safety to experience difficult procedures), children have improved mental health outcomes and better coping during treatment for chronic illnesses (Corey et al., 2008; Kupst & Schulman, 1988; Nabors et al., 2018; Sanger et al., 1991; Swanston et al., 2000). A "secure base" is a term coined by Bowlby (1988) to describe the use of a parent as a touch stone or "secure base" from which a securely attached child could explore the world. Access to a secure base has been shown to allow children to express and process negative emotions more effectively, allowing for better adjustment (Ehrlich et al., 2019). A recent study of children with asthma found that children who perceived their mothers as a secure base had improved asthma-related immune function and increased family asthma management (Ehrlich et al., 2019). This suggests that parents who provide a secure base for their child during the chronic illness journey may improve child HRQL. This is particularly important when considering an intervention that would target improving child HRQL. Parents who can be taught to provide a secure base, would be better able to provide appropriate support for their child during medical procedures related to their chronic illness.

Conclusion

Taken together, this research indicates that although treatment-related procedures can be stressful and increase distress for both parents and children, there are several strategies that parents can use to improve child HRQL and related outcomes. Improving family functioning (e.g., maintaining family routines, providing family support, maintaining positive communication, etc.), improving family open communication, and coaching parents to use

developmentally appropriate coping strategies with their children has the potential to increase the quality of life of children diagnosed with chronic illnesses.

Prior Interventions for Children Undergoing Cancer Treatment

Family Interventions

Family interventions generally target the functioning of the entire family rather than a single member. However, each single member would expect to benefit from improved functioning of the family as a whole. A family systems framework has been suggested as necessary for ensuring improvements to family functioning for children with chronic illnesses (Patterson & Garwick, 1994). A family systems approach examines the pattern of relationships between individual members of a group, or in this case, a family. Since chronic illness alters the social, emotional, and behavioral functioning of the family as a whole, some researchers have noted the importance of ensuring that the family is identified as a target for intervention. In fact, Patternson and Garwick (1994) explained that a preventative, familyfocused intervention should be designed to help improve the negative outcomes faced by families who have a child with a chronic illness. Unfortunately, such a preventative, familyfocused intervention has not been successfully created. The majority of the research into family-focused interventions for families with a child with a chronic illness has occurred in the context of pediatric cancer. Although a broader goal would be to target all families of children with chronic illnesses, a thorough review of the current literature targeting pediatric cancer patients was conducted in order to gain a better understanding of the current standing of a family focused intervention.

Reducing Child Distress During Procedures. Many of the interventions that were conducted in the 1990s involved teaching parents to help their children cope with painful

medical procedures used in cancer treatment. One such study taught parents to instruct their children to use "attentional distraction (children puff on party blowers), paced breathing (parents count child breaths on the blower), and positive reinforcement (children receive stickers for cooperating during the procedures)" during procedures involving needle insertion (Manne et al., 1990). Overall, the study found that this parent training reduced child distress and parent distress during medical procedures (Manne et al., 1990). It did not, however, reduce child ratings of pain after the procedure (Manne et al., 1990). Another study compared pediatric leukemia patients who were randomly assigned to a medication only condition or a medication and parent coaching condition (Kazak et al., 1996). The only difference between the two conditions was that mothers in the coaching condition perceived that their child was in less pain during the procedure (Kazak et al., 1996). An additional study found that when parents were trained on positive coping techniques, they were able to teach these coping skills to their pre-school aged children undergoing treatment for leukemia (Powers et al., 1993). Children who utilized the positive coping strategies showed less behavioral distress during painful procedures (Powers et al., 1993). Overall, evidence suggests that parents are able to be trained to help children cope during painful procedures that are part of pediatric cancer treatment.

Family Function Interventions. Another area of pediatric cancer intervention is to target the parenting and family contexts in an effort to help overall child HRQL. However, many studies that claim to target family functioning actually target parental distress.

Although they are included here as family-functioning interventions, because that is how they refer to themselves, they do not technically meet the criteria of a family-focused intervention from a family systems framework. These interventions do focus on individual

family members of children with cancer, which may highlight a semantic and conceptual problem faced by researchers and health care professionals who are attempting to understand the benefit of a family-focused intervention.

Early studies that attempted to improve overall parental and family functioning did not yield promising results. One study used a randomized controlled trial to compare a manualized psychoeducation and cognitive behavioral treatment to standard oncology care (Hoekstra-Weebers et al., 1988). The purpose of the manualized treatment was to reduce parental distress, which would also reduce child distress and promote adjustment among pediatric cancer patients (Hoekstra-Weebers et al., 1988). Hoekstra-Weebers and colleagues, in an intervention they referred to as "family functioning intervention," found that there were some reductions in parental negative mood at follow-up, not during the treatment period, but no increase in positive mood was observed (1988). Another study attempted to improve overall family functioning using a multicomponent intervention program; however, there were no significant differences in post-treatment family functioning between treatment and control groups (Kupst et al., 1982).

Compared with older studies, more recent studies have demonstrated more positive results. A study that used mindfulness-based stress reduction to help reduce parental distress among caregivers of chronically ill children found significant reductions in parental distress after eight sessions (Minor et al., 2008). There is ongoing research to find an evidence-based treatment for families with children diagnosed with cancer. A recent pilot study found that a combined cognitive behavioral therapy and family therapy was acceptable and appeared to reduce distress among pediatric cancer survivors and their families (Kazak et al., 2005). This included three sessions, two of which allowed parents to process their experience during their

child's diagnosis. Another study of pediatric cancer survivors and their families used a brief, one day, combined cognitive behavioral therapy and family therapy approach to help reduce post-traumatic stress symptoms (PTSS) in the childhood cancer survivors and their parents (Kazak et al., 2004). The authors found that the treatment reduced intrusive thoughts in fathers and arousal in cancer survivors (Kazak et al., 2004). A study done in Iran examined the effects of group Hope Therapy on both hope and depression among mothers of children who have been diagnosed with cancer (Shekarabi-Ahari et al., 2012). Shekarabi-Ahari and colleagues found that 8 weeks of group Hope Therapy significantly increased hope and decreased depression among mothers of children who had been diagnosed with cancer (2012). Another form of therapy called Problem-Solving Skills therapy was studied with mothers of children recently diagnosed with cancer (Sahler et al., 2013). In a randomized controlled trial, Problem-Solving Skills Therapy was able to improve mood and reduce anxiety and posttraumatic stress symptoms in mothers of children diagnosed with cancer (Sahler et al., 2013). However, another randomized controlled trial of PTSS with mothers of children who had recently been diagnosed with cancer found no significant differences between the treatment and control groups (Stehl et al., 2008).

In a meta-analysis of psychological interventions for families with a child diagnosed with cancer, findings suggest that there was a small but significant effect size for interventions to reduce parental distress; nevertheless, there was no significant reduction in child distress or increase in child adjustment or well-being (Pai et al., 2006). However, it was striking that there were only 12 studies that met the criteria to be included in this meta-analysis (Pai et al., 2006). Taken together, there is promising evidence for several studies to reduce parental distress. However, many of these studies refer to themselves as "family-

focused" because they focus on families; but they do not actually target the functioning of the family system. Therefore, there are currently no evidence-based interventions that can be used with families to improve overall family functioning in order to improve child health-related quality of life.

Another meta-analysis of interventions for families of a child with a chronic disease was conducted in 2014 (Law et al., 2014). The study found that many interventions used a behavioral family systems model, which examines the behaviors and maladaptive thoughts of individual members of the family. Both Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT) and Problem Solving Therapy (PST) fall within this model. Although both forms of therapy have strong empirical support for helping individuals, neither of these treatments account for the functioning of the family as a whole but rather attempt to improve the functioning of individual members. This theoretically would improve the family system, but it does not target the relationships between members of the family, nor does it target key components of family functioning (communication, cohesion, support, organization, etc.). The other model that the study found was a Systemic Therapy (ST) approach, which attempts to understand how broader family and social factors influence the functioning of an individual. The authors found that out of all the studies collected for the meta-analysis (37 total), only a small portion used a ST approach (10), while the others used CBT (18) or PST (9) (Law et al., 2014). Outcomes evaluated for this study included parent mental health, parent behavior, family functioning, child mental health, child behaviors/disability, and child medical symptoms.

Law et al. pooled data across all 37 studies to examine outcomes (2014). They found that there were no significant effects in a pooled analysis of interventions for parent mental health, family functioning, child mental health, child behaviors/disability, or child medical

symptoms (Law et al., 2014). Of note, only three studies included in the meta-analysis examined family functioning as an outcome at follow-up. These studies included adolescents with asthma and diabetes and focused on using STs to change adolescent behavior. The authors did find a significant effect in a pooled analysis for positive changes in parent behaviors (Law et al., 2014) but not family functioning. When the effects of interventions were examined by therapy type, there were no significant effects across all outcomes for CBT-based interventions, PST-based interventions had small but significant effects for improving parental mental health and parental behaviors (specific behaviors not specified within the article), and ST therapies either had too few studies to report effects or found non-significant effects (Law et al., 2014).

Overall, the meta-analytic review found modest support for using PST to improve parent behaviors and mental health (Law et al., 2014); however, given the lack of quality data on family functioning, it can be surmised that further studies are needed to determine effective intervention strategies for improving overall family functioning. Additionally, a theme among the studies examined was a focus on individual well-being rather than overall family cohesion, family openness, family communication, and functioning. Despite the support for PST to improve parent behaviors and parent mental health, there are additional factors that influence family functioning (i.e., communication, family coping, a supportive family environment, maintaining family routines, etc.) that were not addressed in these studies. Given the dearth of quality interventions on improving family functioning for children diagnosed with chronic illnesses, a more thorough examination of potential family factors for inclusion in an intervention is warranted.

Family Functioning and Prevention

Overall, there is currently no family-focused treatment with strong empirical support that will improve family functioning in order to prevent reductions in child HRQL. A family-focused intervention would attempt to improve many family functioning domains rather than a single individual. According to family systems theory, by improving the functioning of the family, the functioning of each individual family member would be improved. Although a wealth of research exists on childhood chronic illnesses, the majority of these studies do not include interventions, they are descriptive or correlational (Kazak, 2002). There are some studies that have found cognitive behavioral approaches with families, or with an indicated child, have produced reductions in child distress during painful procedures (Kazak, 2005). Thus, there are "well-established treatments" to help parents coach their children through procedural pain that occurs during cancer treatment (Kazak, 2005). However, there is currently no family-focused intervention aimed at preventing negative psychological and health-related quality of life outcomes among children with chronic illnesses.

Currently, evidence appears to indicate a need for parents to provide a secure base, or a source of support and comfort, for their child during the stressors of the chronic illness diagnosis and treatment experience. In addition, family coping skills, communication strategies, and problem-solving skills appear to be essential for emotional, behavioral, physical, and social adjustment among children with chronic illnesses. To date, only feasibility studies have been done in this realm of pediatric psychology. Evidence indicates that the Surviving Cancer Competently Intervention Program—Newly Diagnosed (SCCIP-ND) program may address some of the family factors mentioned above (Kazak et al., 2005). This program involves separate group sessions for cancer patients, siblings, and parents. The groups meet three times, once to discuss how cancer has affected them, once to discuss CBT

coping skills, and once to discuss moving forward (Kazak et al., 1999). However, this still lacks an integrated family model, where the family learns skills that can improve the functioning of the entire family.

In fact, during a recent group meeting of pediatric oncology psychosocial specialists, standards of care were developed for children with cancer and their families (Wiener et al., 2015). Despite their intensive literature review, they did not comment on family-focused factors, such as improving family coping, family communication, or family functioning, for prevention of psychological sequelae of cancer treatment. Relevant aims, however, were developed. First, the committee found strong evidence that children with cancer and their families should have access to psychological and psychiatric support (Wiener et al., 2015). A family focused intervention aimed at providing information and support to families early on in the cancer process both meets the terms of this aim and could potentially prevent some children from requiring psychological and psychiatric care. By bolstering family functioning, child quality of life will likely improve. Second, the committee found moderate evidence that parents and caregivers of children with cancer should have access to assessment and interventions targeted at their mental health needs (Wiener et al., 2015). A family focused intervention would facilitate coping and positive communication among parents and children, thus improving mental health or allowing family members to seek appropriate care with the support of their family.

Third, the committee suggested that children with cancer and their families should be given "psychoeducation, information, and guidance... tailored to their developmental and specific needs" (Weiner et al., 2015). Information regarding prevention of behavioral and psychological problems through parental behavior management targeted in a family-focused

intervention would meet part of this requirement. In addition, improving family coping and communication would allow information given by therapists, health care workers, and social workers to be properly processed and communicated to the entire family. Fourth, the committee recommended that children should be given "developmentally appropriate preparatory information about invasive medical procedures" (Wiener et al., 2015). Although the importance of preparing children for medical procedures cannot be understated, parents are uniquely placed to both understand their child's developmental level and to spend the appropriate amount of time explaining and coaching their child prior to medical procedures. A family-focused intervention could improve open communication between parents and their children. Open communication is essential for parents to properly explain medical procedures.

Additionally, attachment-aimed treatment goals would improve parental understanding of providing a secure base during painful or scary procedures, as well as providing support throughout the treatment process. And finally, the committee suggested that other children in families who have a child with cancer would benefit from sibling supportive services (Wiener et al., 2015). By improving family coping and communication, sibling outcomes could also be improved. Thus, a family-focused intervention aimed at prevention would meet several aims of the committee, as well as potentially alleviate the need for some of the committees' recommended services.

Finally, many parents view themselves as advocates for their children during and after cancer treatment. Research indicates the importance of family-centered care that allows parents to gain knowledge and emotional strength to advocate for their children (Holm et al., &2003). Despite their distress, parents want to be able to do the best thing for their child

during cancer treatment. Thus, there is an important role for pediatric psychologists to step in and assist families after a child has been diagnosed with cancer. In fact, pediatric oncologists have indicated one of the main roles of psychologists in pediatric oncology departments is to help understand the importance of working within the family system when treating children (Kazak and Noll, 2015).

Chapter 2

The Current Study

This study sought to evaluate potential factors that may be essential in developing and implementing a family-focused intervention for families of pediatric cancer patients currently undergoing treatment specifically, and for children newly diagnosed with a chronic illness more generally. A thorough review of the literature suggests that parental distress, parental perceptions of child vulnerability, parental overprotective behaviors, parental coping skills, family communication, parenting style, and family secure base knowledge may be important for child adjustment and well-being after diagnosis with a chronic illness. Overall, the results of this study will provide information regarding the necessity and acceptability of the previously stated family factors in improving child health related quality of life. Factors that are found to be directly connected to children's health-related quality of life and are found to be deficient in a clinically relevant portion of the population will be considered for a future intervention. Additionally, participants will complete open-ended questionnaires regarding their thoughts on the helpfulness of targeting the aforementioned factors, as well as any barriers to complying, with a potential intervention.

There is currently limited empirically-support for family-focused interventions aimed at improving multiple domains of family functioning, coping, and HRQL during the childhood chronic illness. Prior studies have suggested that family communication and coping may influence child health-related quality of life even years after treatment.

Improving coping skills of families, and thus children, may improve adjustment and quality of life among children with chronic illnesses. By using a qualitative method, this study will also derive family perceptions of a family-focused intervention. It will also allow for an

understanding of barriers to delivering an intervention of this magnitude. Examining these factors may lead to developing a brief intervention which will allow for future pediatric psychologists and social workers to provide essential assistance to the majority of families, which will potentially prevent a portion of poor outcomes requiring more intensive psychosocial services. In addition, since our current understanding of how families adjust to life with a chronic illness is conducted in a variety of chronic illnesses and not just within the context of a cancer diagnosis, it will be important to compare the results of children diagnosed with cancer compared to those of children with other chronic illnesses to ensure generalizability.

The primary goal of this study was to examine the relationship between parental attitudes (perception of vulnerability), behaviors (parental overprotection), and parental distress with parental coping, family communication style, parenting style, and child HRQL. The secondary aims were 1) examine the relationship between parental coping skills, family communication style, parenting style, and child HRQL and 2) assess qualitative information regarding helpfulness and potential barriers to a family-focused intervention during treatment, as well as specific family stressors and coping strategies.

Aim 1: Examine the relationship between parental attitudes (parental perceptions of vulnerability), behaviors (parental overprotection), and parent distress with parental coping, family conversation orientation, family openness to discuss diagnosis information, negative parenting style, and child health-related quality of life.

Although medical interventions increase survival and physical health of children with chronic and life-threatening illnesses, research suggests that time in the hospital, intrusive and painful procedures, and uncertainty about survival may have negative impacts on child

development and adjustment (Barbarin, 1990). Parental attitudes, behaviors, coping skills, and communication styles are important factors that may exacerbate or alleviate the impact of illness and hospital related stressors on a child's adjustment and wellbeing. Prior research has indicated that specific parental attitudes and behaviors play an important role in child adjustment; these include parental stress, parental perceptions of child vulnerability, and parental overprotective behaviors. Current understandings of child adjustment and wellbeing focus on morbidity, emotional dysfunction, and behavioral problems faced by long-term survivors and children with chronic illnesses (Spieth & Harris, 1996; Harding, 2001). Collectively, these domains are considered child health-related quality of life, which was recognized by the World Health Organization as the multidimensional way to describe child adjustment and wellbeing relating to social, physical, cognitive, and psychological functioning. Child health-related quality of life is often measured by parent proxy, which has been shown to be correlated with child reports among pediatric cancer patients (Russell et al., 2006).

Hypothesis 1: Parents endorsing high levels of perceptions of child vulnerability, parental overprotective behaviors, and parental distress will report lower levels of parental coping, less open conversation orientation style, less openness, more negative parenting styles, and poorer child health-related quality of life.

Aim 2: To examine the relationship between parental coping skills, family conversation and conformity orientation, parental style, and child health-related quality of life.

It is clear that parents can influence the health-related quality of life of children with cancer. It has long been documented that parent distress increases child distress during the cancer experience (Jay et al., 1983). However, parents who are able to provide sensitive

support (positive parenting style) are able to improve the adjustment of children with chronic illnesses. Prior studies using evidence-based interventions to train parents to coach children through painful procedures have shown promising results (Kazak et al., 1996; Manne et al., 1990; Powers et al., 1993). Given this past success, teaching parents healthy coping skills may provide two results: it will reduce overall parental distress as parents use the coping skills and it will help parents to coach their children on the use of healthy coping skills.

In addition, research suggests that family cohesion and communication strategies influence adjustment among children with chronic illnesses. Increasing family communication by coaching parents to have sensitive and developmentally appropriate conversations with their children about diagnosis, procedures, emotions, and physical sensations may reduce child anxiety and improve adjustment (Hockenberry-Eaton & Minick, 1994). Training parents to have sensitive conversations with their children may reduce parental distress and improve child health-related quality of life.

Hypothesis 2: Families with parents with greater coping skill utilization, more open communication, higher family conversation orientation, lower family conformity orientation, more positive and less negative parenting, will report greater levels of child health-related quality of life.

Aim 3: To assess the qualitative information regarding perceived helpfulness and potential barriers to a family-focused intervention during treatment, as well as specific family stressors and coping strategies.

Although research examining empirically based importance of potential intervention components is important, an intervention is only useful if it is utilized by those it is designed to help. Therefore, gathering information directly from families is important when designing

a family-based intervention. Previous literature has looked at changes that families undergo, challenges they face, and potential sources of growth and resilience. Parents have long reported that their families undergo many changes, most of them negative, when their child is diagnosed with cancer (Van Dongen-Melman et al., 1998). This is also true for families who have a child with any chronic illnesses (Patterson & Garwick, 1994). However, until 2012, there was not enough literature using qualitative methods to conduct a thorough review or meta-analysis of the themes parents described. A 2012 systematic review identified important themes based on parent responses to interviews (Gibbins et al., 2012). Specific themes that were identified included parents wanting more information, parents describing their own internal journey when confronted with their child's diagnosis, having to continuously adjust or learn new and better coping strategies throughout the process, the negative impact cancer had on the family, experiences of personal growth or positive changes, sources of support, gender differences between parental approaches, and cultural differences in parent perspectives (Gibbins et al., 2012).

At this time, there has only been one other study that looked at family perspectives regarding an intervention during a child's cancer treatment. The study used focus groups to determine the psychosocial needs of families after a diagnosis, how an intervention might be helpful, the best timing for an intervention, and barriers to participating in an intervention (Hocking et al., 2014). An important finding from the qualitative study was that parents preferred not to engage in an intervention that specifically focused on their distress because their focus was on their child (Hocking et al., 2014). This is particularly important because many of the current interventions focused on parental distress in order to improve child distress. This parental preference could help explain the lack of efficacy found in reducing

child distress through interventions based on improving parent distress or focusing on parental maladaptive thoughts. Another important finding highlighted parent preference for focusing on helping their child rather than participating in parent focused interventions, particularly in the months immediately following diagnosis (Hocking et al., 2014). This highlights the need to frame interventions as improving child quality of life when providing them to parents.

This study will help to clarify what would entice families to participate in an intervention, what they would find helpful, and what barriers they believe would hinder their participation. It will also determine what parents currently do that they believe is helpful. Capitalizing on current strengths will help to improve the outcomes of an intervention. This will provide valuable information to researchers and practitioners who seek to aid families undergoing the diagnosis and treatment phase of the childhood chronic illness journey. Previous qualitative studies have provided essential information for improving potential interventions, highlighting the need for parent input when creating interventions.

Chapter 3

Methods

Participants

Participants were initially recruited from University of New Mexico Hospital

Pediatric Oncology Department. Flyers with the study information were given to families by
a nurse, physician's assistant, or doctor either during an inpatient treatment stay or during an
outpatient treatment appointment. The flyer contained information regarding the study, as
well as contact information for the study coordinator. Interested families were able to contact
the study coordinator or discuss the study with oncology staff to schedule a virtual meeting
with the study coordinator. Given the nature of this study, inclusion was be designed to be
broadly inclusive to recruit as many families as possible. Families were eligible to participate
in the study if they have a child diagnosed with cancer, they are able to speak and understand
English, and at least one parent or guardian is able to attend all study meetings.

Due to the ongoing restrictions closures, restrictions, and precautions needed for study participants and researchers to stay safe and healthy during the covid-19 pandemic, multiple changes were made to the protocol to ensure that the sample could be recruited without additional risks related to the pandemic. In addition, due to the nature of their treatments (i.e., immunosuppression related to chemotherapy or bone marrow transplant), cancer patients are uniquely at risk during the pandemic. Due to the increased stressors on this patient population, recruitment efforts were made more difficult. Thus, the sample population was expanded to include children with other chronic illnesses. Chronic illness participants were recruited from online community forums (Craigslist) and social media ads. Interested participants were given a link to an electronic consent form through REDCap and

the link to the electronic survey through Opinio. They were also provided with available dates and times to sign up for the virtual interview portion of the study. Families were eligible to participate in the study if they could speak English fluently and had a child who had been diagnosed with a chronic illness.

A total of 51 participants consented to participate in the study. The data from 10 participants was excluded from the analysis because they had failed to answer any study question other than the demographic questions of the study questions. Thus, 41 participants were used in the main analyses. Of the 41 participants, 4 of them had some missing data and were included in all analyses for which they had complete data. Overall, 14 of the participating families had a child with a cancer diagnosis and the remaining 28 families had a child diagnosed with another chronic illness. Other chronic illnesses included lung and breathing disorders (n = 6), congenital heart defects, (n = 1) GI disorders (n = 2), diabetes (n = 1), neurodevelopmental disorders (n = 4), skin conditions (n = 1), congenital cataracts (n = 1), and chronic mental illnesses (n = 4). Unfortunately, despite all families answering a screening question about their child's chronic illness prior to being enrolled in the study, several families (n = 8)declined to put their child's diagnosis into the survey. Since screening information could not be linked to survey responses, there is no accurate way to identify which chronic illness diagnosis match those families who declined to write it into the survey. In addition, one parent or caregiver was asked to complete the study measures. However, when asked to write in their relationship to the child, the majority of participants wrote if their child was their son or daughter, rather than stating if they were mother, father, or caregiver to the child. Therefore, this study was unable to differentiate responses by mother versus father.

Measures

Demographics

A demographic questionnaire was given to parents. Questions assessed parental age, marital status, mean household income, parental education, parental race/ethnicity, and family structure. Parents also answered questions about child age, sex, child race/ethnicity, child diagnosis/illness status, and type of treatment.

Parental Perceptions of Vulnerability

Parental perceptions of vulnerability were assessed using the Child Vulnerability Scale (CVS) (Forsyth et al., 1996). This scale was designed to assess parents' beliefs about their child's overall vulnerability to health problems. Thus, the scale includes items regarding a child's general health, fear that the child might die, and difficulty with setting limits of behavior. Sample items include "I sometimes get concerned that my child doesn't look as healthy as s/he should," and "I often check on my child at night to make sure s/he is okay." The CVS is a parent report measure with 8 items. Parents rate each item on a 4-point Likert scale from 0 (definitely false) to 3 (definitely true). Higher scores on the CVS represent greater levels of perceived child vulnerability. The normative sample for the development of this measure consisted of mothers of children who were attending pediatricians' offices. Prior studies of the CVS have demonstrated adequate internal reliability (Cronbach's $\propto = .74$) (Forsyth et al., 1996). This measure is widely used within the literature as a measure of parental perceptions that their child is vulnerable, having been used extensively within the pediatric chronic illness literature. Within this study, the CVS was found to have high internal reliability (Cronbach's $\propto = 0.82$).

Parental Overprotection

Parental overprotective behaviors were assessed using the Parent Protection Scale (PPS) (Thomasgard et al., 1995). The PPS allows parents to self-report on several areas of protectiveness. It is a 25-question scale where parents rate each item on a 4-point Likert scale from 0 (never) to 3 (always). Higher scores on the PPS represent greater parental overprotective behaviors. The PPS has been found to have moderate/high internal reliability (Cronbach's $\alpha = .73$) and a high test-retest reliability score (r = .86, p = .001) in norming samples (Thomasgard et al., 1995). Within this study, the PPS had a moderate/high internal reliability (Chronbach's $\alpha = 0.79$).

Parental Distress

Levels of distress experienced by parents was measured with the Perceived Stress Scale-10 Item version (PSS-10) (Cohen et al., 1994). This scale is ideal for looking at parental distress given that it measures how upsetting or distressing an event is perceived to be. The PSS-10 is a 10-item self-report questionnaire answered on a 5-point Likert scale from 0 (Never) to 4 (Very Often). The PSS-10 was designed to measure an individual's perception of their stress. A meta-analytic review of reliability and validity of the PSS-10 found that internal consistency reliability was acceptable among all reported studies (Chronbach's alpha > 0.70) and the test-retest reliability was acceptable across all studies (>0.70) (Lee, 2012). Although this measure has been reliable across other studies, in this study, internal reliability was found to not be adequate (Chronbach's alpha = 0.38).

Parental Coping Strategies

Parental coping was measured using the COPE Inventory- Version II (Carver et al., 2013). The COPE-II is a 60-item self-report questionnaire answered on a 4-point Likert scale from 1 (I usually don't do this at all) to 4 (I usually do this a lot). The COPE-II items load

into 15 subscales. A previous study found that active coping, planning, suppression of competing activities, restraint coping, seeking of instrumental social support loaded onto a factor that was named problem-focused coping (Carver et al.,1989). Seeking of emotional social support, positive reinterpretation, acceptance, denial, turning to religion were found to load onto emotion-focused coping (Carver et al., 1989). For the purpose of this study, problem-focused coping and emotion-focused coping were viewed as positive coping strategies. Another factor, negative coping, was reported to include denial, mental disengagement, and alcohol-drug disengagement (Carver et al., 1989). These subtests were not included in the analysis in order to focus only on potentially helpful coping strategies. The Chronbach's alpha coefficients were .70 (positive coping) and .65 (negative coping) (Carver et al., 1989). Within this study, the items included in the positive coping strategies had a high internal reliability (Chronbach's alpha = 0.87).

Family Communication

Family communication patterns were assessed using two scales. Family communication patterns were assessed using the Revised Family Communication Pattern (RCFP) instrument (Ritchie & Fitzpatrick, 1990). The RCFP is a 26-item scale assessed on a 7-point Likert scale from 1(always) to 7 (never). Previous studies have found acceptable reliability for this tool across multiple settings (Schrodt et al., 2008). The test-retest reliability was found to be acceptable for both conversation orientation (r close to 1) and conformity orientation (r = 0.93) (Fitzpatrick & Ritchie, 1994). Another study found the Cronbach's alpha coefficient between to be 0.84 and 0.92 (Rubin et al., 2009). This scale measures two domains: conversation orientation and conformity orientation. The conversation orientation domain examines family willingness to express their opinions openly, express feelings,

discuss private issues together, and express ideas (Shojaee et al., 2018). Conversation orientation was chosen as a measure of open communication styles, which the literature suggests as a protective factor for children with chronic illnesses (Spinetta & Maloney, 1978; Varni et al., 1996). The conformity orientation domain assesses the family tendency to avoid conflict, seek approval, and limit discussions to common interests (Shojaee et al., 2018). Avoiding conflict, limiting discussions, and seeking approval creates a family environment where difficult topics are avoided and therefore not processed or coped with as a family unit. Given the importance of family openness to child HRQL, conformity orientation was included in the analysis as a potential contributor to poor child HRQL. Internal reliability for conversation orientation (Chronbach's alpha = 0.94) and conformity orientation (Chronbach's alpha = 0.90) were both found to be high within this sample.

An additional measure of family openness was used (Spinetta & Maloney, 1978). This family openness questionnaire has been used previously to assess open communication in families with a child diagnosed with cancer (Spinetta & Maloney, 1978), it has 5 questions scored on a 4-point Likert scale. Within this study, the internal reliability of this measure was poor (Chronbach's alpha = 0.19).

Parenting Styles

Parenting style were assessed using the Multidimensional Assessment of Parenting Scale (MAPS) (Parent & Forehand, 2017). The MAPS is a 34-item scale assessed on a 5-point Likert scale from 1 (Never) to 5 (Always). The scale measures aspects of both positive and negative parenting. The subscales for proactive parenting, positive reinforcement, warmth, and supportiveness load onto positive parenting. This measure was chosen because the literature suggests that parental warmth and supportiveness (i.e., supportive parenting) are

protective factors for children with chronic illnesses (Corey et al., 2008; Nabors et al., 2018), while failure to provide rules and boundaries (i.e., lax parenting) are contributors to poor child HRQL. The subscales for hostility, lax control, and physical control load onto negative parenting. A psychometric study conducted on 1790 parents of children 3-17 found strong internal consistency and test-retest reliability (r = 0.91-0.81) (Parent & Forehand, 2017). This sample was found to have good internal reliability for positive parenting (Chronbach's alpha = 0.86) and negative parenting (Chronbach's alpha = 0.96).

Child Health-Related Quality of Life

Child HRQL were assessed using a measure of child health-related quality of life. The PedsQL 4.0 is a modular parental and self-report measure to assess health-related quality of life in children with a chronic illness (Varni et al., 2001). The main core of questions consists of 23 items, which assess physical, emotional, school, and social functioning. The child (8-18) and parent-proxy scales are rated on a 5-point Likert scale from 0 (never a problem) to 4 (always a problem). The young child self-report measure (5-7) has a 3-point Likert scale (0 = not at all a problem; 2 = sometimes a problem; 4 = a lot of a problem). The Chronbach alpha statistics of the measure was found to be acceptable in a normative sample of 2–18-year-old children and their parents (alpha = .88 for child self-report and alpha = .90 for parent report) (Varni et al., 2001). This measure produces a total HRQL score, where scores indicate higher levels of quality of life. Within this study, the internal consistency for the PedsQL was high (Chronbach's alpha = 0.92).

Attachment Script Assessment

The Attachment Script Assessment (ASA) is an interview designed to measure secure base script knowledge among adults (Waters & Rodrigues-Doolabh, 2001; Waters &

Rodrigues-Doolabh, 2004). Secure base script knowledge is the current method within the literature for measuring a parent's ability to provide a secure base for their child (Waters et al., 2015). Participants were given a list of words and asked to create a story using as many words and details as possible. The 6-word lists framed 4 attachment-relevant stories and 2 neutral stories. Participant narratives would be audio-recorded and transcribed. ASA coding would be on a scale of 1-7 (7 being the most script knowledge). The ASA would be administered by trained interviewers. The ASA would be coded by a trained coder who underwent rigorous training and reliability testing.

Qualitative Questions

Parents were asked to provide answers to open ended questions regarding perceived helpfulness of an intervention targeting domains of family functioning, perceived barriers to participating in an intervention during their child's treatment, the most stressful part of having a child with a chronic illness for their family, and what their family does to manage stress. The questions included a) Would you find an intervention to help families improve the quality of life for children diagnosed with a chronic illness helpful?, b) What components would you want included in a family-based intervention to help families improve the quality of life for children diagnosed with chronic illness?, c) What barriers do you think might get in the way of families participating in an intervention to help improve the quality of life for children diagnosed with chronic illnesses?, d) What has been the most stressful part of the chronic illness diagnosis and treatment process for your family?, and e) What does your family do to help cope with the stressors of having a medically complex child?

Based on the literature and previous qualitative studies (Gibbins et al., 2012; Hocking et al., 2014), specific themes were hypothesized as possible for each question. For question 1,

it was hypothesized that parents would be eager to improve their child's quality of life but would be skeptical regarding parental supports instead of child supports. For question 2, it was hypothesized that parents would request psychoeducation and basic skills regarding how to parent a child with a chronic illness, how to talk to their child about their illness, and how to comfort their child when he or she experienced pain or distress. For question 3, it was hypothesized that families would report that time and money would be barriers to participating in an intervention. For question 4, it was hypothesized that parents would report illness uncertainty and seeing their child in pain as the most stressful part of the illness journey. Finally, for question 5, it was hypothesized that families would report maintaining family rituals, maintaining family organization, and social supports as helpful for them currently.

Initial Procedures

Interested families contacted the study coordinator or discussed the study with the health care provider who initially provided them with the flyer. A meeting between the family and the study coordinator was arranged according to one of the following scenarios:

1) Families who wish to have a face-to-face meeting will be given a link to a zoom meeting

2) Families without reliable internet access can conduct a meeting via the telephone. The meeting went through the informed consent documents verbally and described the procedures for the study. Families who consented to participate were originally mailed the following documents to complete and send back: informed consent document, demographics, qualitative questions, Child Vulnerability Scale, Parental Protection Scale, Perceived Stress Scale-10, PedsQL, COPE-Inventory-II, Revised Family Communication Pattern Instrument,

and Family Openness Questionnaire. Families received a gift certificate for participation in the first part of the study upon return of the documents.

Families then scheduled a time to meet with a trained interviewer via a zoom meeting or via the telephone. A 30-minute interview using the Attachment Script Assessment was administered by a trained interviewer. Families who completed the second part of the study were able to receive an additional gift certificate. However, no participants were willing to return for a zoom interview, so the Attachment Script Assessment was excluded from the study.

Protocol Changes Related to Covid-19

Participants were recruited from a variety of sites, including flyers given to patients at University of New Mexico Children's Hospital, as well as online community forums (Craigslist) and social media ads. Interested participants who met inclusion criteria were given a link to an electronic consent form through REDCap and the link to the electronic survey and open-ended questions through Opinio. They were also provided with available dates and times to sign up for the virtual interview portion of the study to complete the attachment script interview.

Chapter 4

Statistical Analyses

Data Analysis

All data were analyzed using SPSS version 25. Initial data analysis included bivariate correlations of continuous demographic variables with each dependent and independent variable and Chi-Squared analyses for categorical demographic variables. Demographic variables that were found to be both statistically and empirically significant were used to adjust later statistical models. Additional analyses were performed to assess differences between families with a child diagnosed with cancer versus children with other chronic illnesses.

Sample Size

Power analyses using GPower software suggest that to identify a moderate effect size of 0.3 using a multiple regression model, a sample of 45 families would be required.

Methodology and Analysis for Aim 1

Hypothesis 1: Parents endorsing high levels of perceptions of child vulnerability, parental overprotective behaviors, and parental distress will report lower levels of parental positive coping, less open conversation orientation style, less openness, more negative parenting styles, and poorer child health-related quality of life.

To investigate the relationship between parental attitudes, behaviors, and distress with parental coping, family communication, and child adjustment, data were collected on parental perceptions of child vulnerability, parental overprotective behaviors parental distress, parental coping styles, family conversation orientation style, and child health-related quality of life. Bivariate correlations between all variables were assessed. Multiple regression

analysis was used to predict parenting style, parental coping styles, family conversation and conformation orientation style, family openness to discussing diagnostic information, and child health-related quality of life from a model including parental overprotective behaviors, parental perceptions of child vulnerability, and parental distress, as well as any relevant demographic variables.

Methodology and Analysis for Aim 2

Hypothesis 2: Families with parents with greater coping skill utilization, more open communication, higher family conversation orientation, lower family conformity orientation, and more positive and less negative parenting will report greater levels of child health-related quality of life.

To investigate the relationship between parental coping, family communication, parenting style, and child health related quality of life, data were collected on parental coping styles, family communication styles, positive and negative parenting style, and child health-related quality of life. Bivariate correlations between each variable were assessed. Multiple regression analysis was used to predict child health-related quality of life from a model including parental coping styles, family communication styles, positive and negative parenting style, and relevant demographic variables.

Methodology and Analysis for Aim 3

Families provided answers to open-ended questions about perceived helpfulness of a family focused intervention during treatment, perceived barriers to participating in an intervention, current stressors for their family, and how their family coped with the stress of having a child with a chronic illness.

Themes were derived from the parental responses based on the methodology suggested in a meta-analysis by Braun and Clarke (2006). The initial analysis sought themes from within the data by locating repeated, meaningful, patterns of responses. These patterns were identified as "themes." Following the guidelines suggested by Braun and Clarke (2006), patterns were then reviewed by the coders to provide clarified names and definitions of each theme. During this phase, the coders searched for as many codes as possible using a datadrive approach, the smaller codes were then analyzed using tables that grouped them into larger themes (Braun & Clarke, 2006). An example of grouping the codes into larger themes was grouping "coping skills," "communication skills," and "mindfulness skills" into one larger "skills" theme. Initial themes were derived by two graduate students on their predoctoral internship who specialized in pediatric psychology, including clinical work and research with children who have chronic illnesses. Next, a graduate student read and coded the parental responses in accordance with the review phase suggested by Braun and Clarke (2006). In order to ensure reliable coding, each statement was coded to reflect a single theme (Burla et al., 2008). The two pre-doctoral interns who created the categories then met with the blind coder and discussed the results of the coder's categorizations. They came to a consensus regarding categories and the descriptions of each category were amended for increased clarity. A second graduate student was then asked to code the data based on category descriptions given by the researcher. Kappa scores between the second independent blind coder and the consensus codes were calculated to analyze agreement.

Analytic Changes Related to Covid-19

During data collection, participants refused to return for an additional zoom interview. Therefore, data for the attachment script interview was not able to be collected. Thus, a measure of attachment was removed from all aims, hypotheses, and analyses.

Chapter 5

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics for sociodemographic and family variables were reported in Table 1. Children included in the study ranged from 2 years to 16 years in age, with a mean age of 7.2 years. The race and ethnicity of the children was 43.9% non-Hispanic white, 34.1% Hispanic, 9.8% Black, 4.9% Asian, and 7.3% Native American. Children were roughly split between males and females (56.1% male). Mean maternal age was 32.2 (range 24-51) years and mean paternal age was 35.2 (range 25 to 57) years. The majority of parents reported that they were married or partnered (97.6%) and college educated. Roughly half (51.2%) of the reporting parents reported that they had a bachelor's degree, 36.6% had a master's degree or higher, 7.3% had an associate's degree or some college, 4.9% had a GED/High School Diploma or had not completed high school. Family income in the sample included 7.3% under \$30,000 per year, 29.3% between \$30,000 and \$50,000 per year, 41.5% were between \$50,000 and \$80,000 per year, 12.2% were between \$80,000 and \$100,000, and 9.8% made over \$100,00 per year.

Associations with Demographic Variables

Overall, in this sample, child race and ethnicity were not associated with family or HRQL variables. The age of the child was significantly associated with family communication styles, with older age of child associated with higher levels of conversation orientation (r = 0.580, p < 0.001) and lower levels of conformity orientation (r = -0.358, p = 0.030) (Table 2). Child age was also negatively associated with negative parenting methods (r = -0.545, p < 0.001) (Table 2). The sex of the child was significantly associated with child

HRQL, parental distress, and level of conversation orientation (Table 2). Female children (mean = 29.8) were reported to have significantly lower HRQL than male children (mean = 45.0) and to engage in lower levels of conversation orientation-based family communication. Parents of female children reported higher levels of parental distress (mean = 22.7) than parents of male children (mean = 19.6). Parents of children with a cancer diagnosis reported significantly higher levels of parental distress than the parents of children with other chronic illnesses (cancer mean = 23.7, other chronic illness mean = 19.1, p = 0.003). Parents of children with a cancer diagnosis also reported significantly lower levels of conformity orientation-based family communication (Table 2). Additionally, family income was found to be significantly associated with family openness, with higher levels of family openness reported at higher levels of family income. Parental education was found to be significantly associated with child HRQL and parental over protection (Table 2).

Aim 1: Examine the relationship between parental attitudes (parental perceptions of vulnerability), behaviors (parental overprotection), and parent distress with parental coping, family conversation and conformity orientation, family openness to discuss diagnosis information, negative parenting style, and child health-related quality of life. Hypothesis 1: Parents endorsing high levels of perceptions of child vulnerability, parental overprotective behaviors, and parental distress will report lower levels of parental coping, less open conversation orientation style, higher family conformity, less openness, more negative parenting styles, and poorer child health-related quality of life.

Predicting Coping Skill Utilization

Coping skill utilization was significantly associated with parental perceptions of child vulnerability (r = 0.732, p<0.001) but was not associated with other parent variables (Table

3). Parental perceptions of vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental distress were then used to predict coping skill utilization with hierarchical linear regression. No demographic variables were significantly associated with coping skill utilization and parent variables so no demographic variables were included in the model. Table 4 presents the results from hierarchical linear regression modeling of predictors of coping skill utilization. Since parental perceptions of child vulnerability was significantly associated with coping skill utilization, it was included at step one of the model. The addition of parental perception of child vulnerability did contribute significantly to the model ($R^2=0.535$, F=39.151, p<0.001). The second step included hypothesized parenting variables that were not significantly correlated with coping skill utilization. The addition of parent distress and parental overprotection did not contribute significantly to the model. In the final model, only parental perceptions of child vulnerability was found to be a significant and unique predictor of coping skill utilization (beta = 0.732, p<0.001). Thus, the final model predicted that for every one unit increase in parental perception of child vulnerability, coping skill utilization increased by 1.824 points.

Predicting Family Conversation Orientation

Family conversation orientation was significantly associated with negative parenting styles (r = -0.690, p <0.001). Family conversation orientation was not significantly associated with parent distress, parental perceptions of child vulnerability, or parental overprotection (Table 3). Table 5 presents the results from hierarchical linear regression modeling of predictors of family conversation orientation. Since the sex of the child was significantly associated with both family conversation orientation and parent distress, it was included in the model as step 1. The addition of the sex of the child did contribute significantly to the

model (R^2 =0.143, F=5.665, p= 0.023). The second step included hypothesized parenting variables that were not significantly correlated with conversation orientation. The addition of parent distress, parental perceptions of child vulnerability, and parental overprotection did not contribute significantly to the model. In the final model, only the sex of the child was found to be a significant and unique predictor of family conversation orientation (beta = -0.378, p = 0.023).

Predicting Family Conformity Orientation

Family conformity orientation was significantly associated with parental perceptions of child vulnerability (r = -0.371, p = 0.024). Family conformity orientation was not significantly associated with parent distress or parental overprotection (Table 3). Table 6 presents the results from hierarchical linear regression modeling of predictors of family conformity orientation. Since the child cancer diagnosis was significantly associated with both family conformity orientation and parent distress, it was included in the model as step 1. The model indicates that child cancer diagnosis did contribute significantly to the model (R^2 =0.179, F=7.435, p=0.010). The addition of parental perceptions of child vulnerability was also significant (R^2 =0.321, F=7.818, p=0.002). Parent overprotection and parent distress did not contribute significantly to the model. In the final model, child cancer diagnosis (beta = -0.440, p=0.016) and parent perceptions of child vulnerability (beta = -0.416, p=0.019) were significant and unique predictors of family conformity orientation. Thus, in the final model predicted that for every one unit increase in parental perceptions of child vulnerability there is a 0.089 point decrease in family conformity orientation.

Predicting Family Openness

Family openness was significantly associated with parental overprotection (r = 0.431, p <0.001) but was not associated with other family or parent variables. Parental perceptions of vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental distress were then used to predict child HRQL with hierarchical linear regression. No demographic variables were significantly associated with both family openness and parent variables so no demographic variables were included in the model. Table 7 presents the results from hierarchical linear regression modeling of predictors of family openness. Since parental overprotection was significantly associated with family openness, it was included at step one of the model. The addition of parental overprotection did contribute significantly to the model ($R^2 = 0.170$, F = 8.163, p= 0.007). The second step included hypothesized parenting variables that were not significantly correlated with conversation orientation. The addition of parent distress and parental perceptions of child vulnerability did not contribute significantly to the model. In the final model, only parental overprotection was found to be a significant and unique predictor of family openness (beta = 0.421, p = 0.019). Thus, the final model predicted that for every one unit increase in parental overprotection, family openness increased by 0.091 points.

Predicting Negative Parenting Style

Negative parenting style was significantly associated with parental perceptions of child vulnerability (r = 0.451, p = 0.006) but was not associated with other parent variables (Table 3). Parental perceptions of vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental distress were then used to predict negative parenting style with hierarchical linear regression. No demographic variables were significantly associated with both negative parenting style and parent variables so no demographic variables were included in the model. Table 8 presents the results from hierarchical linear regression modeling of predictors of negative parenting

style. Since parental perceptions of child vulnerability was significantly associated with negative parenting style, it was included at step one of the model. The addition of parental perception of child vulnerability did contribute significantly to the model (R^2 =0.203, F=8.671, p=0.006). The second step included hypothesized parenting variables that were not significantly correlated with conformity orientation. The addition of parent distress and parental overprotection did not contribute significantly to the model. In the final model, only parental perceptions of child vulnerability was found to be a significant and unique predictor of negative parenting style (beta = 0.418, p = 0.024). Thus, the final model predicted that for every one unit increase in parental perception of child vulnerability, negative parenting style increased by 0.070 points.

Predicting Child HRQL

Bivariate correlations were run between parent, family, and child HRQL variables (Table 3) as a first step in determining variables for the subsequent regression model. Child HRQL was significantly associated with parental perceptions of child vulnerability (r = -0.594, p <0.001). Child HRQL was not significantly associated with family openness or parental overprotection.

Parental perceptions of vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental distress were then used to predict child HRQL with hierarchical linear regression. Since parental education was associated with both parental report of child HRQL and parental overprotection, and sex of the child was associated with both child HRQL and parental distress, they were included in the analysis as the first step. Table 9 presents the results from hierarchical linear regression modeling of predictors of child HRQL. The model indicates that parent education and the sex of the child did contribute significantly to the model

 $(R^2=0.313, F=7.505, p=0.002)$. The addition of parental perceptions of child vulnerability was also significant ($R^2=0.518, F=11.441, p<0.001$). Parent overprotection and parental distress did not contribute significantly to the model. In the final model, both parent education (beta = -0.401, p = 0.012) and parent perceptions of child vulnerability (beta = -0.442, p = 0.005) were significant and unique predictors of child HRQL. Thus, the model predicted that for each category increase in parent education, child HRQL decreases by 9.968 points. In addition, the model predicts that for each unit increase in parental perception of child vulnerability, child HRQL decreases by 1.203 points.

Aim 2: To examine the relationship between parental positive coping skills, family conversation and conformity orientation, parental style, and child health-related quality of life.

Hypothesis 2: Families with parents with greater positive coping skill utilization, more open communication, higher family conversation orientation, lower family conformity orientation, more positive and less negative parenting will report greater levels of child health-related quality of life.

Bivariate correlations were run between family and child HRQL variables (Table 3). Child HRQL was significantly associated with family conversation orientation (r = 0.629, p <0.001), positive coping skill utilization (r = -0.438, p = 0.007), positive parenting styles (r = -0.338, p = 0.044), and negative parenting styles (r = -0.578, p <0.001). Bivariate correlations were also run between coping skill utilization and family communication and parenting styles (Table 3). Coping skill use was significantly correlated with positive parenting (r = 0.676, p<0.001). Coping skill use was not significantly correlated with family openness, family conversation orientation, negative parenting style, or family conformity orientation. The

relationship between positive parenting and child HRQL was further examined through bivariate correlations of the subgroups that comprised the positive parenting domain. Child HRQL was significantly associated with proactive parenting (r = -0.434, p = 0.008). Child HRQL was not significantly associated with positive reinforcement, warmth, or support.

Coping skill utilization, communication style, and parenting style were then used to predict child HRQL with hierarchical linear regression. Since child age was associated with both parental report of child HRQL and family variables, it was included in the analysis as the first step. Table 10 presents the results from hierarchical linear regression modeling of predictors of child HRQL. The model indicates that child age did contribute significantly to the model ($R^2 = 0.098$, F = 4.824, p = 0.035). The addition of family communication variables (family conversation orientation and family conformity orientation) (R^2 =0.480, F= 9.052, p < 0.001) and positive coping skill utilization (R^2 =0.564, F= 12.329, p < 0.001) also contributed significantly to the model. The addition of parenting style (positive and negative) did not contribute significantly to the model. Thus, the best and final model included child age, family conversation orientation, family conformity orientation, and coping skill utilization. In the final model, family conversation orientation (beta = 0.611, p < 0.001) and coping skill use (beta = -0.417, p = 0.001) were unique and significant predictors of child HRQL. The model predicted that child HRQL would increase 8.799 points for every one unit increase in family conversation orientation. The model also predicted that for every one unit increase in coping skill use, child HRQL would decrease 0.454 points.

Aim 3: To assess the qualitative information regarding perceived helpfulness and potential barriers to a family-focused intervention during treatment, as well as specific family stressors and coping strategies.

Open-ended questions were given codes and kappa scores were calculated to check for agreement between the agreement codes and a blind consistency coder. The first question, which asked about if families would find a family-based intervention helpful, had the lowest kappa score (0.855) (Table 11); however, it was still in the substantial agreement range (0.81 to 1.0). Themes found in respondent answers can be found in Table 12 and included: "yes," "support," "resources," "awareness/education," "psychological," and "no." Among the responses gathered, only 2 participants (6.9%) reported that they would not want a family-based intervention. About 41.4% of responses stated that they would want a family-based intervention and the remaining 51.7% of responses named a component that they would wish to include in a family-based intervention. Specifically, the most frequently reported component that families required was support (20.7%), followed by psychological help (13.8%), increased awareness and education (10.3%), and resources (6.9%) (Table 12).

The second question, which asked what components a family would want included within a family-based intervention had a high level of agreement between coders (kappa = 0.956) (Table 11). Themes found in respondent answers included: "community," "skills-based learning," "resources," "online formats," "psychological," and "none/don't know." Overall, the most commonly requested component by families was psychological help (34.8%), such as psychoeducational components and therapeutic counseling. The second most common response was resources, specifically financial aid or support in obtaining financial help (21.7%). Other responses included skills-based components (17.4%), community (13%), and online options (4.3%). In addition, 2 responses noted that they did not know what to include in a family-based intervention.

The third question asked families what barriers they perceived would get in the way of them participating in a family-based intervention and had a high level of agreement amongst coders (kappa = 0.944) (Table 11). Themes found in respondent answers included: "financial," "location," "time," "lack of support," "taboo," "psychological distress," "lack of knowledge," "physical health," and "none/don't know" (Table 12). The most commonly reported barrier to participating in a family-based intervention was reported to be financial (23.8%), or any costs associated with the intervention. Other barriers reported by families included lack of support from insurance or medical providers (14.3%), negative emotions associated with talking about the diagnosis (14.3%), not having additional time to engage in any other therapies (9.5%), worry about logistics like the location (9.5%), lack of knowledge about interventions (9.5%), poor physical health (9.5%), or taboo regarding the diagnosis (4.3%). Only two participants reported not knowing what barriers would prevent them from participating in a family-based intervention.

The fourth question, which asked what the most stressful part of the diagnosis and treatment process for their family had been, had a high level of agreement between coders (kappa = 0.939) (Table 11). Themes found in respondent answers included: "financial," "lack of support," "timely appointments," "psychological/physical distress," "treatment," and "none/don't know" (Table 12). The most common response from families regarding the most stressful part of the diagnosis and treatment process was the negative mental and physical toll of the disease (36.7%). Other stressors included unexpected costs (10%), lack of support from others with the same diagnosis (6.7%), the treatment itself (6.7%), and the unavailability of timely appointments (3.3%). Three participants reported that they did not know what their stressors were.

The fifth question, which asked what families currently did to handle the stress of having a medically complex child had a high level of agreement between coders (kappa = 1.00) (Table 11). Themes found in respondent answers included: "spoil/indulge child," "parent self-care," "withholding information," "quality family time," "psychological support," "religion," "knowledge," "social support," and "none/don't know" (Table 12). The most common method that families reported using to cope was psychological tools (16.7%) such as deep breathing or mindfulness (Table 12). Other coping methods included religion (13.3%), seeking social support (10%), spoiling the child or giving them special things (10%), researching or gathering knowledge (6.7%), spending quality time as a family (6.7%), withholding information from the child (6.7%), and taking time as a parent to care for themselves (3.3%). Four of the participants reported that they did not know what they did to cope with stress.

Chapter 6

Discussion

Summary of Findings

The purpose of this study was to evaluate potential factors that may be essential in developing and implementing a family-focused intervention for families of children with a chronic illness. The primary goal was to examine the relationship between parental perceptions of child vulnerability, parental overprotective behaviors, and parental distress with parental coping, family communication style, parenting style, and child HRQL. The secondary goals included examining the relationship between parenting coping skills, communication style, parenting style, and child HRQL. The third aim was to assess qualitative information provided by the families. By using a qualitative method in addition to quantitative methods, this study hoped to derive family perceptions of a family-focused intervention and build an understanding of barriers to delivering an intervention of this magnitude.

Aim 1: Examine the relationship between parental attitudes (parental perceptions of vulnerability), behaviors (parental overprotection), and parent distress with parental coping, family conversation orientation, family openness to discuss diagnosis information, negative parenting style, and child health-related quality of life.

The goal of this aim was to examine the relationship between parent variables, family variables, and child HRQL. This would provide insight into which variables should be included in a future intervention aimed at improving family functioning in order to improve child HRQL. There have been several studies that aimed to enhance child functioning by improving parental functioning. In fact, multiple studies have shown reduction in parental

distress both at time of intervention and at follow-up (Hoekstra-Weebers et al., 1988; Minor et al., 2008). However, neither CBT-based interventions nor mindfulness-based interventions that improved parental distress found significant changes in child distress (Hoekstra-Weebers et al., 1988; Minor et al., 2008). This suggests that although parental distress likely plays a role in overall child well-being, there are additional variables that were not included within these past studies.

It was hypothesized that families endorsing high levels of perceptions of child vulnerability, parental overprotective behaviors, and parental distress would report lower levels of family coping, less open communication styles, more negative parenting styles, and poorer child health-related quality of life. Preliminary and exploratory bivariate correlations found a significant relationship between parental perceptions of child vulnerability and child HRQL, coping skill utilization, negative parenting style, positive parenting style, and family conformity orientation. The direction of the relationships supported the hypothesis that higher levels of parental perception of child vulnerability were associated with lower levels of child HRQL and higher levels of negative parenting style. Further analysis using parent attitudes, behaviors, and distress were used to predict child HRQL. Both higher parent education and parental perceptions of child vulnerability were found to predict lower parent ratings of child health-related quality of life.

The literature regarding parent education and its impact on parent reports of child HRQL is mixed. In several studies done with parents of children with sickle cell disease, parent education was found to both significantly impact child HRQL (Panepinto et al., 2005) and not to significantly impact child HRQL (Palermo et al., 2002). Some studies have mentioned that parents higher in sensitivity, who have a higher understanding of their child's

illness and symptoms, might be better reporters of child HRQL (Upton et al. 2008). Parent education may be linked to parent understanding of their child's illness and symptoms. However, other studies have suggested that parent education is linked to socioeconomic status, which increased child HRQL through access to materials and supports (Panepinto et al., 2005).

The finding that greater parental perceptions of child vulnerability were significantly associated with decreased child HRQL is well supported within the literature. Parental perceptions of child vulnerability have been associated with increased child emotional dysregulation, anxiety symptoms, depressive symptoms, and poor adjustment to chronic illness (Carpentier et al., 2008; Colleti et. al., 2008; Mullins et. al., 2004; Mullins et. al., 2007); higher levels of distress in social situations (Anthony et al., 2003); and increased behavior problems in chronically ill children (Allen et. al., 2004; De Ocampo et al., 2003; Fedele et al., 2011). More importantly, parental perceptions of child vulnerability were also associated with increased parent reported distress and overprotective behaviors. Previous research has suggested that increasing levels of parent distress in the face of a child's chronic illness may be directly related to the development of parental perceptions of child vulnerability. Specifically, parental distress and perceived child vulnerability have been found to be associated with poor emotional functioning among chronically ill children (Colleti et. al., 2008; De Ocampo et al., 2003).

When further analyzed, the relations between parent distress and child emotional functioning have been found to be mediated by parental perceptions of child vulnerability (Carpentier et al., 2008; Mullins et. al., 2004). In the current study, higher levels of parent distress were related to higher levels of parental perceptions of child vulnerability. Other

research suggests that parental perceptions of child vulnerability increase parental overprotective behaviors (Levy, 1980; Vrijmoet-Wiersma et. al., 2010). In the current study, higher levels of parent perceptions of child vulnerability were associated with higher levels of parent overprotection. It has been speculated that parental perceptions of child vulnerability may mediate the association between parent distress and child HRQL by influencing child perceptions and behaviors, as well as parent behaviors. However, contrary to the initial hypothesis, parent distress and overprotective behaviors were not associated with child health-related quality of life in this study. Thus, the relationship between these variables may be more complex than originally believed. It may be that when parents, despite their distress, are able to manage their own emotions and maintain a supportive presence for their child, reductions in HRQL are not observed. However, given the significance of parental perceptions of child vulnerability to HRQL within this study, parental distress may impact child HRQL by altering parental beliefs about their children, which may in turn alters how they interact with their children.

Within the chronic illness literature, parent overprotection has an equivocal relationship with child HRQL. Some studies have found that parental overprotection during the initial diagnosis and treatment period is a protective factor (Coletti et al., 2008). However, other studies have suggested that overprotective parenting reduces child independence and may increase child behavior problems (Holmbeck et al., 2002). In a pending publication by the current author, child independence was found to be an important factor related to continued elevations of stress reactivity among pediatric cancer survivors (Erickson et al., 2022), demonstrating the importance and potential negative consequence of independence reductions seen in relation to parental overprotection. The current study did not

find a significant association between parent overprotection and child HRQL. This suggests that the pathway by which parental overprotection influence a child's overall wellbeing may be more complicated than the simplified model suggested by previous literature.

The relationship between parent distress and child HRQL has been clearly documented in the literature and it was surprising that in the current study, child HRQL and parent distress were not significantly associated. However, other studies suggest that despite overall high levels of parent distress when their children are diagnosed with a chronic illness, parents who are successfully able to cope with their distress and provide support for their children have children who are better able to adjust to their diagnoses (Corey et al., 2008; Nabors et al., 2018). For example, factors such as maintaining overall family functioning has been found to be a buffer against paternal distress for young boys with cancer (Robinson et al., 2006). Thus, family factors may have influenced the relationship between parent distress and child HRQL in this study, as subsequently discussed.

Contrary to the initial hypothesis, parental perceptions of child vulnerability were associated with increased positive coping skill utilization. The initial hypothesis was that parents with higher perceptions of child vulnerability would have lower coping skill utilization. Little research was available regarding the relationship between parental perceptions and parent coping. It was speculated that parents who utilized fewer coping skills would have greater distress and therefore greater perceptions that their child is vulnerable. In the current study, the opposite relationship emerged. This may be a sign that these parents need to use more positive coping skills due to having higher levels of distress. For example, a study of parents of children with sickle cell disease and thalassemias found that parents had to utilize coping skills, even when children were relatively healthy, due to fear and

uncertainty related to future health concerns for their child (Atkin and Ahmed, 2000). Thus, this finding may represent further evidence that parent uncertainty and distress related to their child's diagnosis may influence the development of parental perceptions of child vulnerability.

Also contrary to the initial hypothesis, parent distress and parent overprotective behaviors were not significantly associated with negative parenting style, parental coping skill use, or family conversation orientation. Positive parenting traits, such as warmth, have been associated with active coping skill use amongst adolescents as one indicator of positive adolescent adjustment (Wolfradt et al., 2003). In the same study, negative parenting styles such as control and pressure were associated with higher rates of anxiety amongst adolescents (Wlfradt et al., 2003). Additionally, parent stress has long been associated with negative parenting styles. Distressed parents are more likely to utilize harsher discipline and control methods, particularly when their external stressors overwhelm their coping capabilities (Warren et al., 2019). Thus, it was expected that higher levels of parental distress would overwhelm parental coping skills use and would disrupt parental behaviors, such as overprotectiveness and parenting styles, as well as reduce positive parenting styles such as maintaining an open conversational environment and be associated with increased negative parenting behaviors. However, our analysis did not support this hypothesis. In fact, parental perceptions were better predictors of coping skill use and parenting style, pointing to the importance of how parents perceive their children relative to their level of distress or their parenting behaviors.

It is also important to note that female sex was significantly related to higher levels of parental distress, lower child HRQL, and lower conversation orientation. Most of the

literature exploring these topics looks at the child's sex as a moderating factor or incidental variable. Little information relates directly to the effect of the child's sex on how parents experience distress, report HRQL, or create patterns of family communication. Regarding parental distress, in contrast to our findings, a meta-analysis examining parental distress among parents of children with neurodevelopmental disorders found that parents reported less distress when their child was female (Theule et al., 2013). However, Theule and colleagues (2013) noted that their findings contrasted with previous studies that found either no gender differences and opposite gender differences. Additionally, although female sex was initially significantly related to child HRQL, it did not significantly predict child HRQL once parental education was added to the model. Some studies have found lower parental reports of child HRQL with female children compared with male children (Michel et al., 2009), while others have found no gender differences in reports of child HRQL (Haraldstad et al., 2011). Overall, there does not appear to be clarity within the literature regarding differences in parent report of distress or child HRQL based on child gender. Future research is needed to explore this topic further. In the regression model predicting family conversation orientation, only the sex of the child predicted family conversation orientation. There is little evidence that one gender elicits specific types of communication; however, there is some evidence that the type of communication might vary by parent-child gender congruence, with mothers and daughters having more open conversation styles (Schrodt et al., 2009). Future studies may be warranted to explore female gender as a potential risk factor for reductions in child HRQL and parental distress when communication styles are altered due to chronic illness.

Aim 2: To examine the relationship between parental coping skills, family conversation and conformity orientation, parental style, and child health-related quality of life.

The goal of this aim was to examine which family variables were related to child HRQL and thus, should be included in a family-focused intervention. Previous studies that attempted to improve parental and family functioning did not show significant changes in child HRQL. However, many of these studies focused primarily on parental distress to improve child functioning. In addition, when the entire family was involved in the intervention, family members were often separated into different groups rather than receiving an intervention focused on the family unit as a whole. For example, one program involved separate group sessions for cancer patients, siblings, and parents. The groups meet three times, once to discuss how cancer has affected them, once to discuss CBT coping skills, and once to discuss moving forward (Kazak et al., 1999). However, many of the previous studies, such as the Kazak and colleagues study (1999), did not include specific modules or skills aimed at family factors, and instead, attempted to improve individual factors for each family member in order to improve the system as a whole.

We hypothesized that families with greater coping skill utilization, more open communication styles, higher family conversation orientation, lower family conformity orientation, and more positive and less negative parenting styles would report greater levels of child health-related quality of life. We also hypothesized that families with more open communication styles would utilize more coping skills. Preliminary and exploratory bivariate correlations found a significant relationship between child health-related quality of life and family conversation orientation, coping skill utilization, positive parenting styles, and negative parenting styles. Child HRQL was not significantly associated with family openness

to discussing diagnosis and health-related information or family conformity orientation. This suggests that an overall atmosphere of openness where individual family members feel comfortable bringing up emotional or difficult topics is more important than simply discussing diagnosis-related information. A recent study of family communication among children diagnosed with epilepsy found that families with higher family communication were associated with higher child health-related quality of life, as well as more positive illness attitudes and self-perceptions (O'Toole et al., 2021). The same study found that when families communicate openly about their child's diagnosis, but those conversations are filled with negative emotions, children have more negative opinions about their diagnosis (O'Toole et al., 2021). This finding highlights that open communication about a diagnosis is not enough to improve child functioning: a family environment where negative topics can be discussed in an open and honest way, without negative family emotions about the conversation (i.e., getting upset that a difficult topic was brought up), is a key factor for improving child adjustment to a diagnosis and future well-being.

In addition, the directionality of these relationships suggests that higher parent ratings of child HRQL were related to lower levels of both positive and negative parenting, higher levels of family conversation, and lower levels of coping skill utilization. Initial bivariate correlations confirmed the original hypothesis that higher child HRQL would be associated with more open family conversation styles and lower levels of negative parenting. In the initial bivariate correlations, child age was also associated with child HRQL, conversation orientation, conformity orientation, and negative parenting. The directions of these associations suggests that older child age is associated with higher HRQL, higher conversation orientation, lower conformity orientation, and lower negative parenting.

Previous literature suggests that the age of the child may be associated with varying risks among domains of child HRQL. For example, cognitive late effects of pediatric cancer are more likely the younger the child was at diagnosis (Vannatta et al., 2009), while adolescents are at the highest risk for psychological and social impairments (Vannatta et al., 2009). In addition, as children age and become more emotionally mature, it is expected that parents will increase their openness about difficult topics while children may attempt to assert their own opinions, leading to greater conflict between parent and child ideas (Koerner & Fitzpatrick, 2006). Thus, child age was included in the model that predicted child HRQL but was not significant after the addition of family factors (family conversation orientation, family conformity orientation, positive parental coping, positive parenting style, and negative parenting style). This suggests that the relationship between child age and child HRQL may be mediated by family conversation orientation.

Further models found that when child age, family conversation, coping skills, and parenting style were added to the model, only increased family open conversations and lower positive parental coping skill utilization predicted higher levels of child HRQL. Many forms of positive parenting are associated with improved family conversation orientation. For example, a study of children with epilepsy found that authoritative parents who promoted open communication had children with higher levels of health-related quality of life (O'Toole et al., 2021). Thus, when both family conversation styles and parenting styles were added to the model, conversation orientation more strongly predicted child HRQL. Additionally, the lower levels of positive parental coping skill utilization may represent a higher need for coping skills when children have poorer health-related quality of life.

However, the finding that higher levels of child HRQL were associated with less positive coping skill use and lower levels of positive parenting did not support the initial hypothesis. Further examination of the positive parenting subgroups (warmth, supportiveness, positive reinforcement, and proactive parenting) found that higher levels of child HRQL were associated with lower reports of proactive parenting only; other subgroups were not found to be significantly related to child HRQL. Proactive parenting involves responding to potential difficulties before the child faces them (Parent & Forehand, 2017). Proactive parenting is similar to overprotective parenting, which the literature suggests is associated with reductions in child HRQL.

Aim 3: To assess the qualitative information regarding perceived helpfulness and potential barriers to a family-focused intervention during treatment, as well as specific family stressors and coping strategies.

Qualitative data was organized into themes using a systematic, data-driven thematic review process (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Overall, families reported that they would like an intervention that targeted family functioning in order to improve their child's health related quality of life. Many families responded very positively to the idea, saying, "I would do literally ANYTHING to improve my son's quality of life, so totally yes." Previous qualitative data suggested that families were more focused on their children and would prioritize their child's mental health over their own functioning. Qualitative interviews of families whose children were undergoing treatment for cancer found that parents were ambivalent about treating their own distress, preferring to help their children (Hocking et al., 2014). This suggests that although parents were less willing to receive services for themselves, if an intervention is framed as improving the functioning of the entire family and advertised as

seeking to improve health-related quality of life for the child diagnosed with a chronic illness, parents are more likely to express a desire to participate.

In addition, several themes arose throughout the responses to the open-ended questions. Parents reported in multiple places that they desired social support and a sense of community with other families who understood their experience. There are many support groups for parents, siblings, and children diagnosed with chronic illnesses. However, the participants in the study continually brought up including components of social support within an intervention. This points to the difficulty families have in locating quality community-based support groups on their own. Even when families attempt to find online support on their own, continued participation in groups is variable. One study that examined data from large internet-based support groups for chronic illnesses found that about 60% of individuals who register with online groups did not continue interacting with the group after registering (Wang et al., 2012). The same study found that participation increased when strong emotional bonds and support were offered within the online community (Wang et al., 2012) as compared to knowledge-based support. This suggests the importance of care teams in connecting families with quality support groups, either online or in their communities. Another theme that parents frequently reported included wanting information and skillsbased help that would improve their child's quality of life. Some families specifically mentioned wanting help with "more communication skills" and others mentioned psychological or psychoeducational components that would improve their family functioning. This is particularly important given the previous literature's agreement that family communication styles impact child quality of life.

When asked about barriers that would impact their ability to participate in a family-based intervention, the most common answers included financial and logistical barriers.

Many families mentioned needing financial support, improved access to resources, and help addressing unexpected costs as difficulties that they faced during the diagnosis and treatment stages of their child's chronic illness. Several studies have found that financial strain affects a large portion of families who have a child with a chronic illness. Childhood chronic illnesses are associated with a variety of costs, including medical care, medication, transportation, and time away from work. Additionally, in a study of cancer patients, financial hardships and lost income were found across all income levels but the burden of these financial difficulties disproportionately affected families in lower income brackets (Bona et al., 2014). This financial strain has also been associated with decreased family-functioning (Pelletier & Bona, 2015) and increased levels of caregiver distress and maladjustment (Galtieri et al., 2022). These findings highlight the need for continued involvement of social workers and case managers in aiding families who are navigating a pediatric chronic illness diagnosis.

In addition, other barriers mentioned included time, location, and lack of support from medical and insurance institutions. A randomized controlled trial examining the feasibility and effectiveness of a three-session parental intervention given within the first month of a child's cancer diagnosis found that although parents who participated found the intervention helpful, the feasibility of the intervention was questionable based on the low participation rate (23%) (Stehl et al., 2008). Families in the study mentioned that they required more flexibility during the time of their child's hospitalization and initial treatment due to the sheer number of appointments, as well as high levels of parent and child distress (Stehl et al., 2008). In this current study, many participants commented about "not having

enough time to do what they have to do already, much less adding in something else." Other comments included: "location, I am not sure if this is something that needs to happen where you are in close proximity to something or someone, but location could potentially be a problem." Taken together this suggests that families require flexible and accessible interventions that work around their medical appointments and are given in convenient locations in order to increase participation.

Finally, when asked about what they currently do to manage distress, families described a mixture of both beneficial and potentially harmful coping skills. Some families noted that they continue to spend quality time as a family, such as attending family get togethers and taking family vacations. Prior research has demonstrated the importance of continuing with family routines, such as family gatherings for holidays or important dates. Other families reported that they sought support from friends, family, and religion. However, other families stated that they withheld information from their child. One caregiver stated that they, "try not to show this problem to the child, letting him have a normal life, as much as possible." Unfortunately, research suggests that children adjust better to their diagnosis when parents have open and honest conversations with them about their diagnosis and treatment (Last & Van Veldhuizen, 1996; Slavin et al., 1982). In addition, other families reported that they attempted to spoil or indulge their child to cope with the distress of their diagnosis and treatment. The research on overindulgence and overprotection during the treatment process is mixed. Some research suggests that during acutely vulnerable periods, such as during chemotherapy, parental overprotection helps children adjust to the hardships of treatment (Fedele et al., 2011). However, when parental overprotection continues past the acute phase of a chronic illness diagnosis, it has been associated with poorer long-term

outcomes (Fedele et al., 2011). Thus, it will be important for providers who implement interventions with chronic illness communities to carefully validate positive coping strategies while also providing information on more effective long-term strategies.

Clinical Implications

Overall, the findings of this study suggest that within this sample, lower child health-related quality of life was associated with higher levels of parental beliefs that their child is vulnerable, lower levels of open communication in the family, higher parent coping skill use, higher levels of proactive parenting (i.e., responding to difficulties before they occur), and higher negative parenting styles (harsh and coercive parenting). In adjusted models, parent beliefs that their children were vulnerable, open communication, and parent coping were all significant predictors of child health-related quality of life. Thus, when considering which factors would be important to include within an intervention that focused on family-functioning in order to improve the health-related quality of life of a child diagnosed with a chronic illness, targeting parent perceptions and beliefs about their child's diagnosis and health, helping parents foster an environment of openness, and improving the coping of families should be included.

In many of the models run for this study, parent perceptions of child vulnerability were one of the most important predictors of child health-related quality of life. This is consistent with a wealth of literature that has made the connection between parent perceptions of child vulnerability and child outcomes. However, this study was unique in examining other parent variables in conjunction with parent perceptions, pointing to the overwhelming importance of targeting parent beliefs about their child in order to improve child outcomes. Specifically, parents who believed that their children were more vulnerable

also were more likely to engage in proactive parenting and be more overprotective, potentially acting as one pathway through which parental perceptions of child vulnerability influence child HRQL. This may be due to beliefs that children are more vulnerable and therefore require more help or protection. Thus, helping parents to understand their child's health status and realistic levels of vulnerability could help parents to promote independence and autonomy in their children, which previous studies have linked to improved outcomes in child cancer survivors (Erickson et al., 2022). Parents who believe that their children are more vulnerable also endorsed higher levels of parent distress, which have both frequently been cited as important (negative) correlates of child health related quality of life in the literature. Previous studies have speculated that parent beliefs that their child is more vulnerable may be caused by higher levels of parental distress and therefore be a pathway through which parent distress influences child HRQL. In this study, parental perception of vulnerability was a better predictor of poor child HRQL than parent distress, adding to the evidence of this claim. Therefore, even if targeting parent distress is not feasible, targeting the way that parent distress influences their beliefs about their children may be the more appropriate intervention target. Additionally, parents who endorsed higher beliefs that their children were more vulnerable also endorsed higher positive coping skill use, which may be indicative of parental attempts to reduce higher levels of distress.

Parents who believed that their children were more vulnerable also reported less family conformity and higher levels of negative parenting. Other studies have linked reduced warmth and autonomy support combined with higher levels of harsh and controlling parenting with reductions in child HRQL in children with cerebral palsy (Aran et al., 2007). Perceptions that their child is more vulnerable may cause parents to tighten control in an

attempt to protect their child. Thus, intervening with both parental beliefs and behavior is likely important in a future intervention. This also suggests the importance of interdisciplinary work in addressing these factors, where a physician or patient educator may be more uniquely placed to improve parental beliefs about their child's vulnerability. In open-ended questions, many parents mentioned seeking further education or awareness about their child's diagnosis and treatment as important components, others suggested psychoeducational pieces. These requests for information or psychoeducation about their child's health align with the finding about parent perceptions of child vulnerability, adding further evidence of the importance of this component. Therefore, an interdisciplinary approach utilizing psychoeducation about their child's diagnosis, actual vulnerability, and health would be important to combine with other family factors in a family focused intervention.

Another important component of a future intervention would be improving the family communication environment. It was originally hypothesized that families who had more open communication about their child's diagnosis would have better outcomes. However, the data suggests that it is more important for the family to have an overall communication style that promotes open conversations, even about difficult topics. Family members should be comfortable bringing up potentially controversial or hard topics in order to receive support or validation from their family. Importantly, in open ended questions, families asked for specific skills, such as communication skills, to be included within an intervention.

Therefore, a future intervention should work towards improving the communication patterns within families.

Positive parent coping skill utilization was also found to be an important predictor of child HRQL, as well as connected to perceptions of child vulnerability. Families who endorsed lower levels of child HRQL endorsed higher positive coping skill use, suggesting a higher level of unmitigated distress among these families. Additionally, families had noted that specific psychological skills should be included in an intervention, indicating the importance of positive coping strategies as part of a family focused intervention. The emphasis should be on positive strategies, since several families reported methods of coping that have traditionally been associated with poorer outcomes, such as withholding information from their child or spoiling their child.

Furthermore, a wealth of literature discusses the link between parental distress at children's chronic illness diagnosis and parent perceptions of child vulnerability and parent overprotection. Further research suggests a link between the overall functioning of the family and the functioning of a child with a chronic illness. However, little research has examined the connection between these parent variables and family factors. For example, parental perceptions of child vulnerability were found to be associated with positive parenting style, parental coping, and family conformity. This suggests that parental beliefs influence the overall functioning of the family such that parents utilize harsher and more controlling parenting methods and family conflict is increased when a parent endorses high vulnerability. Another parent factor, parental overprotection, was found to be positively associated with family openness to discussing diagnosis information and positive parenting. In previous literature, parental overprotection within the diagnosis and acute treatment phase of a child's cancer diagnosis was associated with better outcomes, indicating a place for protectiveness. The final parent variable, parental distress, was not associated with any of the family

variables. This is important because it suggests that despite their distress, parents can still provide a supportive and open environment for their child. Thus, reductions in parent distress, which have been the previous targets of interventions, may not be as important as the overall functioning of the family.

Additionally, a previous study that asked parents to articulate their perceptions regarding an intervention targeting parent distress after a child's cancer diagnosis in order to improve child distress found that parents preferred to ignore their own concerns and focus on their child's distress (Hocking et al., 2014). Upon learning that their child was diagnosed with cancer, parents noted that their whole focus became supporting that child's well-being. Another study that attempted to identify feasibility of a three-session manualized intervention for parents of recently diagnosed pediatric cancer patients found very low participation rates for their intervention (Kazak et al., 2005). This suggests that overall, parents would prefer not to participate in an intervention aimed at parent distress reduction during the diagnosis and treatment phase of pediatric cancer. In addition, when parent distress was successfully targeted in previous interventions, those reductions did not translate into reductions in child distress. However, the parents in the current study reported that they would want to participate in an intervention that aimed at improving family functioning in order to improve child health-related quality of life, counter to the aforementioned study. The response among participants was overwhelmingly positive and many even reported specific components that they hoped would be included. Since previous studies of feasibility have generally been aimed at parent factors, and have been poorly received, the different response among families in this study suggests that focusing on family is key for improving participation. Although parents may be reticent to take time away from their child to focus on themselves, they

appear to be more willing to focus on their family as a whole. Given the lack of success that previous interventions have had these findings point to the importance of a family-focused intervention rather than a parent- or child-focused intervention.

Taken together, it is clear that parental perceptions of child vulnerability are highly related to both family factors and child HRQL, making it a clear target of intervention. In addition, the components that parents asked for in an intervention largely lined up with those that were found to be important in the quantitative portion of the study. Families asked for education or awareness about their child's condition, which would help improve parent perceptions of their child's vulnerability. Families also asked for direct skills, such as communication skills, or psychological skills. These components align with the importance of family open communication and effective coping skill use. Thus, a successful intervention would likely involve interdisciplinary work, with flexible appointments, offer online options, make supportive connections for families, contain a psychoeducational component, and improve the overall family environment by promoting openness and reducing controlling or overprotective parenting techniques.

Limitations and Directions for Future Research

First, given the recruitment strategies, it is possible that selection bias may have affected the representativeness of the cancer patients and other children with chronic illnesses. The low recruitment of cancer patients speaks to the possibility that cancer patients who agreed to participate differed systematically from those who were approached but declined participation. In addition, the online nature of the study may have pulled for families who are currently experiencing higher levels of distress and therefore are searching for answers online. Or alternatively, families with lower levels of distress may have had more

time and interest in participating in research. Also, since families who reported that their child had a cancer diagnosis provided broad diagnostic and treatment information (i.e., the child had chemotherapy, or the child had cancer) instead of specifics, the study was not able to include information about treatment severity or types of cancer among participants.

Additionally, since the hospital and university had specific rules about hospital visitors during Covid-19, a study coordinator was relied upon to give information about the study to pediatric cancer patients. Due to hospital and university policies related to visitors and social distancing, data were not able to be collected on who was invited to participate, who demonstrated interest, and who declined. Thus, overall participation rates were not able to be calculated.

Families also refused to return for a second part of the study, which included a zoom meeting to conduct an attachment script interview. This highlights the importance of streamlining research procedures. This is particularly important among families experiencing high levels of distress or with busy schedules. Also, zoom fatigue due to online school and work meetings may have also prevented participants from being willing to participate in an additional zoom-based study sessions.

An additional limitation of this study was the use of parent reported child health-related quality of life rather than a direct child measure of HRQL. A meta-analysis of literature looking at agreement between parent and child reports of HRQL using the PedsQL found that there was good agreement across all domains of the PedsQL (Upton et al., 2008). However, the authors also reported that several papers suggested that concordance between parent and child reports of HRQL is higher on easier to observe scales, such as physical health, and lower on psychosocial subscales (Upton et al., 2008). Additional research has

suggested that older child age (Uzark et al., 2003) and female gender (Waters et al., 2003) both reduce agreement between children and their parents on measures of child HRQL. However, it is important to note that parent-proxy report is the current best method of determining child HRQL in young children, particularly those who are unable to read or comprehend survey materials. The mean age of children reported in the current study was 7 years of age, with the youngest reported at 2 years of age. Thus, the best method for determining child HRQL for the children within a study using a broad age range would likely be parental report.

Another limitation of this study was the inclusion of multiple chronic illnesses rather than just pediatric oncology patients. Much of the literature of childhood chronic stress focuses on a single illness and extrapolates across other chronic illness populations.

However, an article that looked at HRQL across obesity, eosinophilic gastrointestinal disorder, inflammatory bowel disease, epilepsy, type 1 diabetes, sickle cell disease, post–renal transplantation, and cystic fibrosis found differences based on type of disorder (Ingerski et al., 2010). In this study, children diagnosed with cancer did not have significantly different ratings of child HRQL compared to children diagnosed with other chronic illness diagnoses; but parents of children with cancer had a higher level of parent distress compared to parents of children with other chronic illnesses. Future research using larger sample sizes of both children with cancer diagnoses and children with other chronic illnesses would be important to determine the generalizability of the findings across all illness groups or to detect true group differences.

An additional limitation is that this study was conducted during the Covid-19 pandemic. The pandemic, particularly in the early months, added additional stress to families

already struggling with vulnerable children. New research on the pandemic indicates that, in general, both parents and children are living with elevated levels of stress (Cluver et al., 2020; Imram et al., 2020; Serlachius et al., 2020). Further research has shown increases in overall family stress and disruptions in family routines that have increased anxiety in both parents and children (Serlachius et al., 2020). Additionally, Covid-19 has disrupted many services that families of children with chronic illnesses rely on to improve their children's HRQL, such as occupational therapy, physical therapy, speech therapy, psychological services, social support groups, and academic services. Research suggests that the lack of these supports may have impacts including increased behavioral problems, social withdrawal, and internalizing problems (Imram et al., 2020). Given the heightened stress levels and changes in the pandemic across the past 18 months, parent distress and other parent and family variables may have been inflated or altered across the board based on their reaction to the pandemic. The current study did not include questions regarding specific family reactions to the pandemic. Future research on the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on families of children with chronic illnesses will be important, as chronic stress has long-term mental health implications.

Additionally, although the majority of the measures used within this study demonstrated a high level of internal reliability both within the normative samples and in the sample collected for this study, two measures had lower than expected internal reliability. The Perceived Stress Scale had been used extensively in the literature and has previously demonstrated an acceptable internal reliability. Within the current sample, the reliability was only moderate, which may have impacted the ability of the analyses to pick up meaningful associations between this measure and other covariates. It was unclear why the internal

reliability of this measure was lower within this study compared to previous literature. Changes in overall stress responses and perceived stress due to the pandemic may have affected participant responses to this questionnaire. The second measure, the Family Openness Questionnaire, was a set of 5 questions used to assess family openness to discuss a child's chronic illness. These questions had been used in a previous study, but the psychometrics had not been reported. Within this sample, the internal reliability of the questions was low, which may have been reflected in the lack of associations between this measure and other covariates.

A final limitation of this study was that family-based intervention was not defined for participants prior to having them complete the open-ended questions. Given the confusing nature of "family-based" within the literature, it is unclear if participants had an adequate understanding of a family system prior to answering the open-ended questions. Future research should include a brief discussion about family systems theory or gather information from interviews where a trained researcher can guide the discussion to ensure that all participants understand the nature of a family-based intervention.

Chapter 7

Conclusion

In sum, this study represents a unique investigation of the connections between parental distress, parent attitudes, parent behaviors, family factors, and child health-related quality of life. The findings offer insight into how parental factors, such as beliefs about their child's vulnerability, overprotective behaviors, and parent distress are associated with one another. Parent education and parent perceptions of child vulnerability both predicted child HRQL. In addition, parent perceptions of child vulnerability were associated with many of the family variables, including family conformity orientation, negative parenting style, and coping skill utilization. This suggests that parents' perceptions that their child is particularly vulnerable is an important target for improving both family functioning and overall child well-being.

This study also looked at the connections between family factors and child HRQL. In an adjusted model, the ability of a family to have open and honest conversations, as well as parent coping skill use, were significantly associated with child HRQL. Thus, targeting family factors and improving both how families communicate with one another and how they cope with their child's diagnosis would be important to include within an intervention.

Finally, families suggested that they would like to participate in a family-based intervention. A family intervention was viewed as more acceptable in this study than an intervention focusing only on parental distress, as targeted in previous studies (Gibbins et al., 2012; Hocking et al., 2014. Families noted that they desired access to a community of other families who understood their experience. Thus, connecting families in person or online could be an important component of an intervention. Families also reported wanting to learn

specific skills, such as better communication or how to cope with stress. They also stated that they wanted psychoeducation components and therapeutic skills for their child. Thus, the inclusion of educational components regarding how to cultivate an environment of openness within their family, how to utilize positive coping skills, and how to provide appropriate support to their children will also be important components. This information is particularly important considering previous interventions focused on reducing parent distress as a means to reduce child distress. Those studies found little evidence that such interventions were helpful in improving child wellbeing. This study suggests that changing the target of a family-focused intervention to parent perceptions of child vulnerability and improving the functioning of the family as a whole would be more beneficial.

Tables

Table 1. Means and frequencies for a	all dependent and independent variables.				
Variable (range)	mean (SD) or frequency (%)				
Child Age (2-16)	7.2 (4.2)				
Child Sex					
Male	56.1%				
Female	43.9%				
Child Race/Ethnicity					
Hispanic	34.1%				
Non-Hispanic White	43.9%				
Black	9.8%				
Asian/Pacific Islander	4.9%				
Native American/Alaskan	7.3%				
Native					
Cancer Diagnosis					
Cancer	34.1%				
Other Chronic Illness	65.9%				
Parent Race/Ethnicity					
Hispanic	34.1%				
Non-Hispanic White	43.9%				
Black	7.3%				
Asian/Pacific Islander	4.9%				
Native American/Alaskan	7.3%				
Native	110 / 0				
Maternal Age (24-51)	32.2 (6.2)				
Paternal Age (25-57)	35.2 (7.6)				
Parent Education	3512 (710)				
Some High School, High	4.9%				
School Diploma, or GED	1.5 /0				
Some College or	7.3%				
Associate's Degree	7.370				
Bachelor's Degree	51.2%				
Master's Degree,	36.6%				
Professional Degree/Ph.D.	30.070				
Family Income					
Under \$30,000	7.3%				
\$30,000 - \$50,000	29.3%				
\$50,000 +\$50,000	41.5%				
\$80,000 - \$60,000	12.2%				
Over \$100,000	9.8%				
Family Openness (0-15)	11.4 (2.0)				
Child HRQL (0-100)	38.6 (18.3)				
Parent Distress (0-40)	20.8 (4.8)				
Child Vulnerability (0-36)	23.4 (6.7)				
Family Conversation (1-7)	4.2(1.2)				
1 annly Conversation (1-7)	7.4(1.4)				

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics (Continue	ed)	
Family Conformity (1-7)	3.5 (1.2)	
Coping (36-144)	101.6 (16.5)	
Positive Parenting (1-5)	3.7 (0.7)	
Negative Parenting (1-5)	3.0 (1.1)	
Parental Overprotection	52.4 (9.1)	
(0-75)		

Table 2: Correlations and ANOVA of sociodemographic variables by family, parent, and child measures.

	Correlation [^]			ANOVA^^		
	Child Age	Child	Child	Cancer	Family	Parent
		Race/	Sex	Diagnosis	Income	Education
		Ethnicity		C		
Family Openness	-0.304	1.034	1.77	2.927	5.043**	1.002
Child HRQL	0.327*	1.335	7.384*	0.283	2.268	5.819**
Parent Distress	-0.031	2.191	3.987*	10.212**	0.801	1.465
Child	-0.133	1.344	1.273	0.002	2.315	1.207
Vulnerability						
Family	0.580***	0.970	5.951*	1.674	2.428	1.627
Conversation						
Family	-0.358*	1.484	2.456	7.841**	1.097	0.547
Conformity						
Coping	-0.018	1.911	0.600	1.311	0.766	1.486
Positive	0.158	1.741	0.431	0.375	1.268	0.251
Parenting						
Negative	-0.545***	0.662	1.876	1.998	1.562	1.861
Parenting						
Parental Over	-0.247	1.370	2.802	2.103	2.238	3.231*
Protection						

^{*}p < .05, ** p < .01, ***p < .001

^ Pearson r value

^{^^} F value

	Child	Parental	Parental	Positive	Family	Family	Family	Positive	Negative
	Vulnerability	Over-	Distress	Coping	Conversation	Conformity	Openness	Parenting	Parenting
		protection					_	_	
Child HRQL	-0.594***	-0.308	-0.263	-0.438**	0.629***	0.298	-0.277	-0.338*	-0.578***
Child Vulnerability	1.00	0.351*	0.354*	0.732***	-0.211	-0.371*	0.165	0.623***	0.451**
Parental Over- protection		1.00	-0.046	0.243	< 0.001	0.027	0.440**	0.348*	0.255
Parental Distress			1.00	0.201	-0.148	0.281	-0.081	0.219	0.099
Positive Coping				1.00	0.018	-0.254	0.108	0.676***	0.239
Family Conversation					1.00	0.112	-0.132	0.084	-0.690***
Family Conformity						1.00	0.114	-0374*	-0.130
Family Openness							1.00	0.213	0.037
Positive Parenting								1.00	0.051
Negative Parenting									1.00

Table 4. Coping skill utilization predicted by parental perceptions of child vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental stress.

		Standardized	Coefficients				
B Coeff	Standard	Beta	t	Significant	F	\mathbb{R}^2	F Change Significance
	Ziror				39.151***	0.535	< 0.001
1.824	0.292	0.732	6.257	< 0.001			
					12.302***	0.536	0.986
1.851	0.339	0.742	5.453	< 0.001			
-0.032	0.237	-0.018	-0.137	0.892			
-0.054	0.477	-0.015	-0.114	0.910			
	Coeff B 1.824 1.851 -0.032	1.824 0.292 1.851 0.339 -0.032 0.237	Coefficients B Standard Beta Error 1.824 0.292 0.732 1.851 0.339 0.742 -0.032 0.237 -0.018	Coefficients B Standard Error Beta t 1.824 0.292 0.732 6.257 1.851 0.339 0.742 5.453 -0.032 0.237 -0.018 -0.137	Coefficients B Standard Error Beta t Significant 1.824 0.292 0.732 6.257 <0.001	Coefficients Beta t Significant F 1.824 0.292 0.732 6.257 <0.001	Coefficients B Standard Error Beta t Significant 39.151*** F R² 1.824 0.292 0.732 6.257 <0.001

^{*}p < .05, ** p < .01, ***p < .001

Table 5. Family conversation orientation predicted by child sex, parental perceptions of child vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental stress.

-		dardized	Standardized C	Coefficients				
		ficients	D				D 2	E CI
	В	Standard Error	Beta	t	Significant	F	R^2	F Change Significance
Analysis 1: Addition of Child Sex		EHOI				5.665*	0.143	0.023
Child Sex	0.943	0.396	0.378	2.380	0.023			
Analysis 2: Addition of Parent Variables						1.853	0.193	0.594
Child Sex	1.027	0.442	0.412	2.324	0.027			
Child Vulnerability	-0.042	0.034	-0.221	-1.213	0.2334			
Parental Overprotection	0.027	0.025	0.193	1.057	0.299			
Parent Distress	0.015	0.051	0.055	0.303	0.764			
p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .00	1							

Table 6. Family conformity orientation predicted by child cancer diagnosis, parental perceptions of child vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental stress.

overprotection, and parental stress.	I I a a t a s	dondinod	Ctondondinod					
		<u>idardized</u>	<u>Standardized</u>					
		ficients .	Coefficients		~a.	_	-2	C1
	В	Standard	Beta	t	Significant	F	\mathbb{R}^2	F Change
		Error						Significance
Analysis 1: Addition of Child						7.435*	0.179	0.010
Cancer Diagnosis								
Cancer Diagnosis	-1.097	0.402	-0.423	-2.727	0.010			
Analysis 2: Addition of Parent						7.818**	0.321	0.013
Perception of Child Vulnerability								
Cancer Diagnosis	-1.121	0.372	-0.433	-3.016	0.005			
Child Vulnerability	-0.073	0.028	-0.377	-2.682	0.013			
Analysis 3: Addition of Parenting						5.089**	0.323	0.792
Distress								
Cancer Diagnosis	-1.178	0.434	-0.455	-2.714	0.011			
Child Vulnerability	-0.076	0.030	-0.391	-2.527	0.017			
Parenting Distress	0.013	0.051	0.046	0.266	0.792			
Analysis 4: Addition of Parent	010-2	3132			****	3.763**	0.327	0.675
Overprotection						21, 00	0.027	0.072
Cancer Diagnosis	-1.141	0.448	-0.440	-2.545	0.016			
Child Vulnerability	-0.081	0.032	-0.416	-2.484	0.019			
Parenting Distress	0.015	0.052	0.050	0.283	0.779			
Parental Overprotection	0.013	0.032	0.069	0.423	0.675			
	0.010	0.023	0.009	0.423	0.073			
* $p < .05$, ** $p < .01$, *** $p < .001$								

Table 7. Family openness predicted by parental perceptions of child vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental stress.

	<u>Unstandardized</u> Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients					
	В	Standard Error	Beta	t	Significant	F	\mathbb{R}^2	F Change Significance
Analysis 1: Addition of		Littor				8.163	0.170	0.007
Parental Overprotection								
Parental Overprotection	0.095	0.033	0.440	2.857	0.007			
Analysis 2: Addition of other						2.698	0.127	0.848
Parent Variables								
Parental Overprotection	0.091	0.037	0.421	2.460	0.019			
Child Vulnerability	0.013	0.053	0.043	0.241	0.811			
Parent Distress	-0.042	0.074	-0.096	-0.572	0.571			

p < .05, ** p < .01, ***p < .001

Table 8. Negative parenting style predicted by parental perceptions of child vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental stress.

	<u>Unstandardized</u> Coefficients		Standardized C	Standardized Coefficients				
	В	Standard Error	Beta	t	Significant	F	\mathbb{R}^2	F Change Significance
Analysis 1: Addition of Child		21101				8.671**	0.203	0.006
Vulnerability								
Child Vulnerability	0.076	0.026	0.451	2.945	0.006			
Analysis 2: Addition of other						2.907*	0.214	0.802
Parent Variables								
Child Vulnerability	0.070	0.030	0.418	2.362	0.024			
Parental overprotection	0.013	0.021	0.107	0.633	0.531			
Parent Distress	-0.004	0.042	-0.017	-0.105	0.917			
*p < .05, ** p < .01, ***p < .001								

Table 9. Child HRQL predicted by parental education, parental perceptions of child vulnerability, parental overprotection, and parental stress.

		dardized	Standardized					
	Coef	<u>ficients</u>	<u>Coefficients</u>					
	В	Standard	Beta	t	Significant	F	\mathbb{R}^2	F Change
		Error						Significance
Analysis 1: Addition of						7.505**	0.313	17.722**
Demographic Variables								
Parent Education	-11.270	3.866	-0.453	-2.915	0.006			
Child Sex	7.215	5.578	0.201	1.2915	0.205			
Analysis 2: Addition of Parent						11.441***	0.518	15.627***
Perception of Child Vulnerability								
Parent Education	-8.969	3.348	-0.360	-2.679	0.012			
Child Sex	5.748	4.763	0.160	1.207	0.236			
Child Vulnerability	-1.269	0.344	-0.467	-3.686	< 0.001			
Analysis 3: Addition of Parental						8.351***	0.519	0.737
Overprotection								
Parent Education	-9.204	3.506	-0.370	-2.625	0.013			
Child Sex	5.942	4.886	0.165	1.216	0.233			
Child Vulnerability	-1.297	0.365	-0.477	-3.559	0.001			
Parental	0.076	0.280	0.038	0.271	0.788			
Overprotection								
Analysis 4: Addition of Parent						6.647***	0.526	0.640
Distress								
Parent Education	-9.968	3.723	-0.401	-2.678	0.012			
Child Sex	4.555	5.360	0.127	0.850	0.402			
Child Vulnerability	-1.203	0.395	-0.442	-3.048	0.005			
Parental	0.044	0.287	0.022	0.153	0.880			
Overprotection								
Parent Distress	-0.397	0.600	-0.097	-0.661	0.514			
*p < .05, ** p < .01, ***p < .001								

	<u>Unstai</u>	<u>ndardized</u>	Standardized					
	Coef	<u>ficients</u>	<u>Coefficients</u>					
	В	Standard Error	Beta	t	Significant	F	\mathbb{R}^2	F Change Significance
Analysis 1: Addition of Child						4.824*	0.124	0.035
Age								
Child Age	1.532	0.698	0.352	2.196	0.035			
Analysis 2: Addition of Family						9.052***	0.459	< 0.001
Communication Variables								
Child Age	0.636	0.829	0.146	0.768	0.448			
Conversation Orientation	7.381	2.584	0.513	2.856	0.007			
Conformity Orientation	4.026	2.153	0.287	1.870	0.071			
Analysis 3: Addition of Coping						12.329***	0.614	0.001
Skill Utilization								
Child Age	0.102	0.727	0.024	0.141	0.889			
Conversation Orientation	8.799	2.254	0.611	3.904	< 0.001			
Conformity Orientation	1.786	1.954	0.127	914	0.368			
Coping	-0.454	0.129	-0.417	-3.528	0.001			
Analysis 4: Addition of Parenting Style						8.061***	0.625	0.654
Child Age	0.050	0.769	0.011	0.065	0.949			
Conversation Orientation	8.298	2.639	0.576	3.144	0.004			
Conformity Orientation	1.275	2.066	0.091	0.617	0.543			
Coping	-0.340	0.180	-0.312	-1.890	0.069			
Negative Parenting Style	-3.526	4.146	-0.139	-0.850	0.402			
Positive Parenting Style	-1.306	2.828	-0.081	-0.462	0.648			
*p < .05, ** p < .01, ***p < .001								

Table 11. Kappa scores between consensus codes and blind coder for themes on each open-ended question.

Question	Kappa Score	
1	0.855	
2	0.956	
3	0.944	
4	0.939	
5	1.00	

Table 12. Responses to open-e	•		
Theme	Example(s)	N	%
Question 1: Would you find a helpful?	n intervention to help families improve the quality of life for children diagnosed with a	chroni	c illness
Yes	"I would do literally ANYTHING to improve my son's quality of life, so totally yes."	12	40%
Support	"I would love a community of other families going through similar things to what my family is going through so that we can discuss, support and help each other"	6	20%
Resources	"any resources"	2	6.7%
Awareness/Education	"bring more awareness to the diseases"	3	10%
Psychological	"support their self esteem and spending time caring them and giving them positive thoughts"	4	13.3%
No		2	6.7%
for children diagnosed with ch			
Community	"I would want a community of other families that are going through similar situations that we can post stories and have others comment and give support through their words. It would also be great if there was a way to find other children close by that are going through something similar as my son that he could meet and finally have someone that truly understands him, what he's going through, and how he feels, because no matter how hard I try, I will never fully understand what he goes through."	3	10%
Skills-based learning	"More communication skills"	4	13.3%
Resources	"financial help that doesn't require paperwork, forms, etc."	5	16.7%
Online	"A lot of interactions and online availabilities."	1	3.3%
Psychological	"psychologists and courses"	4	13.3%
Psychoeducation		2	6.7%
Therapist/counseling	"timely counseling"	6	20%
None/Don't Know	•	2	6.7%
	you think might get in the way of families participating in an intervention to help improve with chronic illnesses?	ove the	quality
Financial	"Financial costs getting in the way."	5	16.7%

Location	"location, I am not sure if this is something that needs to happen where you are in close proximity to something or someone, but location could potentially be a problem"	2	6.7%
Time	"Not having enough time to do what they have to do already, much less adding in something else"	2	6.7%
Lack of Support	"inadequate support from medical insurance firm"	3	10%
Taboo	"Taboo and any diseases that are private"	1	3.3%
Psychological Distress	"they feel very sad to others talking"	3	10%
Lack of Knowledge	"Lack awareness," "Ignorance"	2	6.7%
None/Don't Know		1	3.3%
Physical Health	"Sometimes they feel low"	2	6.7%
	"family's dealing with intense medical treatments"		
Question 4: What has been the	most stressful part of the chronic illness diagnosis and treatment process for your fam	nily?	
Financial	"Having to deal with all the unexpected expenses!"	3	10%
Lack of Support	"The uncertainty and feeling like we have a lack of support. I would love to join	2	6.7%
	a group in my area with other parents of a child with cancer or a serious illness,		
	we could be friends and support each other because besides my husband, we		
	don't have much outside support or help."		
Timely Appointments	"Able to forward to medical appointments with a faster time."	1	3.3%
Late Effects	"The end results and the permanent damage it costs"	1	3.3%
Psychological/Physical	"emotions and manage the emotional effects of cancer, including anger, fear,	11	36.7%
Distress	stress, and depression"		
Treatment	"Chemotherapy, very disheartening time"	2	6.7%
None/Don't Know		3	10%
	mily do to help cope with the stressors of having a medically complex child?		
Spoil/Indulge Child	"One night of every other week we have an evening filled with whatever my son	3	10%
	wants to do, whether it be dinner and a movie in the theater, or the day spent at		
	an arcade, whatever he wants, we do for that day, once every other week."		
Parent Self-Care	"My husband and I also make sure to take some time for ourselves every week,	1	3.3%
	sometimes I go shopping or to the spa to pamper myself, and my husband will		
	go golfing or out with his male friends."		
Withholding Information	"Try not to show this problem to the child, letting him have a normal life, as	2	6.7%
	much as possible."		

Quality Family Time	"Always make sure we take time to spend together as a family like get togethers	2	6.7%
	and vacations."		
Psychological Support	"Know your own stress cues. Practice deep breathing or mindfulness."	5	16.7%
Religion	"we put lot of hope in God and we used to pray during stressful situation which	4	13.3%
	made us to handle those anxiety depression"		
Knowledge	"take it easy and research about"	2	6.7%
Social Support	"We bring other family into our home, we enjoy much love from other people"	3	10%
None/Don't Know		4	13.3%

References

- Abidin, R. R. (1990). Parenting stress index-short form (p. 118). Charlottesville, VA: Pediatric Psychology Press.
- Abrams, A. N., Hazen, E. P., & Penson, R. T. (2007). Psychosocial issues in adolescents with cancer. *Cancer treatment reviews*, *33*(7), 622-630.
- Ainsworth, M. D. S., Blehar, M. C., Waters, E., & Wall, S. (1978). Patterns of attachment: A study of the strange situation Hillsdale NJ.Allen, E. C., Manuel, J. C., Legault, C., Naughton, M. J., Pivor, C., & O'Shea, T. M. (2004). Perception of child vulnerability among mothers of former premature infants. Pediatrics, 113(2), 267-273.
- Anthony, K. K., Bromberg, M. H., Gil, K. M., & Schanberg, L. E. (2011). Parental perceptions of child vulnerability and parent stress as predictors of pain and adjustment in children with chronic arthritis. *Children's Health Care*, 40(1), 53-69.
- Anthony, K. K., Gil, K. M., & Schanberg, L. E. (2003). Brief report: Parental perceptions of child vulnerability in children with chronic illness. Journal of pediatric Psychology, 28(3), 185-190.
- Atkin, K., & Ahmad, W. I. (2000). Family care-giving and chronic illness: how parents cope with a child with a sickle cell disorder or thalassaemia. *Health & social care in the community*, 8(1), 57-69. https://doi-org.libproxy.unm.edu/10.1046/j.1365-2524.2000.00211.x
- Badr, H., Chandra, J., Paxton, R. J., Ater, J. L., Urbauer, D., Cruz, C. S., & Demark-Wahnefried,
 W. (2013). Health-related quality of life, lifestyle behaviors, and intervention preferences
 of survivors of childhood cancer. Journal of Cancer Survivorship, 7(4), 523-534.

- Barakat L P, Patterson C, Weinberger B, Simon K, Gonzalez E R, Dampier C. A prospective study of the role of coping and family functioning in health outcomes for adolescents with sickle cell disease, *Journal Of Pediatric Hematology Oncology*, 2007, vol. 29 pg. 752.
- Barrera, M., Shaw, A. K., Speechley, K. N., Maunsell, E., & Pogany, L. (2005). Educational and social late effects of childhood cancer and related clinical, personal, and familial characteristics. *Cancer*, *104*(8), 1751-1760.
- Barrera, M., Wayland, L., D'Agostino, N. M., Gibson, J., Weksberg, R., & Malkin, D. (2003).
 Developmental Differences in Psychological Adjustment and Health-Related Quality of
 Life in Pediatric Cancer Patients. *Children's Health Care*, 32(3), 215-232.
 doi:10.1207/S15326888CHC3203_3
- Barbarin, O. A. (1990). Adjustment to serious illness. In B. B. Lahey & A. E. Kazdin (Eds.), *Advances in clinical child psychology* (Vol. 13. pp. 377-403). New York: Plenum Press.
- Bavelas, J. B., & Segal, L. (1982). Family systems theory: Background and implications. *Journal of communication*, 32(3), 99-107.
- Benoliel, J.Q. (1975). Childhood diabetes: The commonplace in living becomes uncommon. In A. Strauss (Ed.), Chronic illness and the quality of life (pp. 89-98). St. Louis: Mosby.
- Blotcky, A. D., Cohen, D. G., Conatser, C., & Klopovich, P. (1985). Psychosocial characteristics of adolescents who refuse cancer treatment. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *53*(5), 729-731. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.53.5.729
- Blount, R. L., Landolf-Fritsche, B., Powers, S. W., & Sturges, J. W. (1991). Differences between high and low coping children and between parent and staff behaviors during painful medical procedures. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *16*(6), 795-809.

- Bona, K., Dussel, V., Orellana, L., Kang, T., Geyer, R., Feudtner, C., & Wolfe, J. (2014).

 Economic Impact of Advanced Pediatric Cancer on Families. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 47(3), 594–603.

 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2013.04.003
- Bouma, R., & Schweitzer, R. (1990). The impact of chronic childhood illness on family stress: A comparison between autism and cystic fibrosis. *Journal of clinical psychology*, 46(6), 722-730.
- Bowlby, J. (1958). The nature of the child's tie to his mother. *International Journal of Psycho- Analysis*, *XXXIX*, 1–23.
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment Basic Books. New York.
- Bowlby, J. (1973). Attachment and loss. Vol. III: Separation.
- Bowlby, J. (1978). Attachment and loss. Vol. 2. Separation: anxiety and anger. Penguin books.
- Boyce, K., Boujaoude, L., & Laundy, J. (2012). Development and Behavioral Resources:

 Children with Chronic Conditions. UniRetrieved from:

 http://www.med.umich.edu/yourchild/topics/chronic.htm
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. DOI: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Breitmayer, B.J., Gallo, A.M., Knafl, K.A., & Zoeller, L.H. (1992). Social competence of school-aged children with chronic illness. Journal of Pediatric Nursing, 7, 181-188.
- Breitmayer, B.J., Knalt, K.A., Gallo, A.M., & Zoeller, L.H. (1991). Parents' views of their role in helping children adjust to diabetes. Paper presented at ANA Council of Nurse Researchers, October, 1991, Los Angeles, CA.

- Broffenbrenner U. (1979). The ecology of human development. Cambridge, MA Harvard University Press
- Brown, R. T., Madan-Swain, A., & Lambert, R. (2003). Posttraumatic stress symptoms in adolescent survivors of childhood cancer and their mothers. *Journal of Traumatic Stress:*Official Publication of The International Society for Traumatic Stress Studies, 16(4), 309-318.
- Burla, L., Knierim, B., Barth, J., Liewald, K., Duetz, M., & Abel, T. (2008). From text to codings: Intercoder reliability assessment in qualitative content analysis. *Nursing Research*, 57, 113–117. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/01. NNR.0000313482.33917.7d
- Butow, P., Palmer, S., Pai, A., Goodenough, B., Luckett, T., & King, M. (2010). Review of adherence-related issues in adolescents and young adults with cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 28(32), 4800-4809.
- Cadman, D., Boyle, M., Szatmari, P., & Offord, D. R. (1987). Chronic illness, disability, and mental and social well-being: findings of the Ontario Child Health

 Study. *Pediatrics*, 79(5), 805-813.
- Campbell, L. K., Scaduto, M., Sharp, W., Dufton, L., Van Slyke, D., Whitlock, J. A., & Compas, B. (2007). A meta-analysis of the neurocognitive sequelae of treatment for childhood acute lymphocytic leukemia. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 49(1), 65-73.
- Canter, K. S., Wu, Y. P., Stough, C. O., Parikshak, S., Roberts, M. C., & Amylon, M. D. (2015). The relationship between attitudes toward illness and quality of life for children with cancer and healthy siblings. Journal Of Child And Family Studies, 24(9), 2693-2698. doi:10.1007/s10826-014-0071-9

- Cappelli, M., McGrath, P. J., MacDonald, N. E., Katsanis, J., & Lascelles, M. (1989). Parental care and overprotection of children with cystic fibrosis. *British Journal of Medical Psychology*, 62(3), 281-289.
- Carpentier, M. Y., Mullins, L. L., Wolfe-Christensen, C., & Chaney, J. M. (2008). The relationship of parent self-focused negative attributions to ratings of parental overprotection, perceived child vulnerability, and parenting stress. *Families, Systems*, & *Health*, 26(2), 147.
- Carson, D. K., & Schauer, R. W. (1992). Mothers of children with asthma: perceptions of parenting stress and the mother-child relationship. Psychological Reports, 71(3_suppl), 1139-1148.
- Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., & Weintraub, J. K. (1989). Assessing coping strategies: a theoretically based approach. Journal of personality and social psychology, 56(2), 267.
- Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., & Weintraub, J. K. (2013). COPE inventory. Measurement Instrument Database for the Social Science.
- Clark, K. K., Bormann, C. A., Cropanzano, R. S., & James, K. (1995). Validation evidence for three coping measures. Journal of Personality Assessment, 65(3), 434-455.
- Clements, M., & Barnett, D. (2002). Parenting and attachment among toddlers with congenital anomalies: Examining the Strange Situation and attachment Q-sort. Infant Mental Health Journal: Official Publication of The World Association for Infant Mental Health, 23(6), 625-642.
- Cluver, L., Lachman, J. M., Sherr, L., Wessels, I., Krug, E., Rakotomalala, S., ... & McDonald, K. (2020). Parenting in a time of COVID-19. *Lancet*, 395(10231).

- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1994). Perceived stress scale. Measuring stress: A guide for health and social scientists, 10.
- Cohen, M. S. (1999). Families coping with childhood chronic illness: A research review. Families, Systems, & Health, 17(2), 149.
- Colletti, C. J., Wolfe-Christensen, C., Carpentier, M. Y., Page, M. C., McNall-Knapp, R. Y., Meyer, W. H., ... & Mullins, L. L. (2008). The relationship of parental overprotection, perceived vulnerability, and parenting stress to behavioral, emotional, and social adjustment in children with cancer. Pediatric Blood & Cancer, 51(2), 269-274.
- Compas, B. E., Jaser, S. S., Dunn, M. J., & Rodriguez, E. M. (2012). Coping with Chronic Illness in Childhood and Adolescence. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 8, 455–480. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032511-143108
- Connelly, M., Anthony, K. K., & Schanberg, L. E. (2012). Parent perceptions of child vulnerability are associated with functioning and health care use in children with chronic pain. *Journal of pain and symptom management*, *43*(5), 953-960.
- Corey, A. L., Haase, J. E., Azzouz, F., & Monahan, P. O. (2008). Social support and symptom distress in adolescents/young adults with cancer. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 25(5), 275-284.
- Cousens, P., Waters, B., Said, J., & Stevens, M. (1988). Cognitive effects of cranial irradiation in leukaemia: a survey and meta-analysis. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 29(6), 839-852.
- Dahlquist, L. M., Power, T. G., Cox, C. N., & Fernbach, D. J. (1994). Parenting and child distress during cancer procedures: A multidimensional assessment. *Children's Health Care*, 23(3), 149-166.

- De Ocampo, A. C., Macias, M. M., Saylor, C. F., & Katikaneni, L. D. (2003). Caretaker perception of child vulnerability predicts behavior problems in NICU graduates. Child Psychiatry and Human Development, 34(2), 83-96.
- DiMatteo, M. R., Lepper, H. S., & Croghan, T. W. (2000). Depression is a risk factor for noncompliance with medical treatment: meta-analysis of the effects of anxiety and depression on patient adherence. *Archives of internal medicine*, *160*(14), 2101-2107.
- Ehrlich, K. B., Miller, G. E., Shalowitz, M., Story, R., Levine, C., Williams, D., ... & Chen, E. (2019). Secure base representations in children with asthma: Links with symptoms, family asthma management, and cytokine regulation. *Child development*, *90*(6), e718-e728.
- Eiser, C., & Morse, R. (2001). A review of measures of quality of life for children with chronic illness. *Archives of disease in childhood*, 84(3), 205-211.
- Erickson, S. J., & Steiner, H. (2001). Trauma and personality correlates in long term pediatric cancer survivors. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, *31*(3), 195-213.
- Erickson, S. J., Dinces, S., Kubinec, N., & Annett, R. D. (2022). Pediatric Cancer Survivorship:

 Impact Upon Hair Cortisol Concentration and Family Functioning. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, 1-11. https://doi-org.libproxy.unm.edu/10.1007/s10880-022-09858-9
- Fakhry, H., Goldenberg, M., Sayer, G., Aye, S. S., Bagot, K., Pi, S., & ... IsHak, W. W. (2013).

 Health-related quality of life in childhood cancer. *Journal Of Developmental And Behavioral Pediatrics*, *34*(6), 419-440. doi:10.1097/DBP.0b013e31828c5fa6

- Fedele, D. A., Mullins, L. L., Wolfe-Christensen, C., & Carpentier, M. Y. (2011). Longitudinal assessment of maternal parenting capacity variables and child adjustment outcomes in pediatric cancer. *Journal of pediatric hematology/oncology*, 33(3), 199-202.
- Fitzpatrick M. A., Ritchie D. L. (1994). Communication schemata within the family: Multiple perspectives on family interaction. *Human Communication Research*, 20(3), 275-301.
- Forsyth, B. W., Horwitz, S. M., Leventhal, J. M., Bruger, J., & Leaf, P. J. (1996). The child vulnerability scale: an instrument to measure parental perceptions of child vulnerability. Journal of pediatric psychology, 21(1), 89-101.
- Galtieri, L. R., Fladeboe, K. M., King, K., Friedman, D., Compas, B., Breiger, D., Lengua, L., Keim, M., Boparai, S., & Katz, L. F. (2022). Caregiver perceived financial strain during pediatric cancer treatment: Longitudinal predictors and outcomes. *Health Psychology*, 41(1), 43–52. https://doi-org.libproxy.unm.edu/10.1037/hea0001122
- Gedaly-Duff, V., Lee, K. A., Nail, L. M., Nicholson, H. S., & Johnson, K. P. (2006). Pain, sleep disturbance, and fatigue in children with leukemia and their parents: a pilot study. In *Oncology nursing forum* (Vol. 33, No. 3, p. 641). Oncology Nursing Society.
- Germann, J. N., Leonard, D., Stuenzi, T. J., Pop, R. B., Stewart, S. M., & Leavey, P. J. (2015).

 Hoping is coping: A guiding theoretical framework for promoting coping and adjustment following pediatric cancer diagnosis. *Journal Of Pediatric Psychology*, 40(9), 846-855. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsv027
- Gibbins, J., Steinhardt, K., & Beinart, H. (2012). A systematic review of qualitative studies exploring the experience of parents whose child is diagnosed and treated for cancer. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 29(5), 253-271.

- Goldbeck, L. (2001). Parental coping with the diagnosis of childhood cancer: gender effects, dissimilarity within couples, and quality of life. *Psycho-Oncology*, *10*(4), 325-335.
- Hamlett, K. W., Pellegrini, D. S., & Katz, K. S. (1992). Childhood chronic illness as a family stressor. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *17*(1), 33-47.
- Hammen, C., Brennan, P. A., & Shih, J. H. (2004). Family discord and stress predictors of depression and other disorders in adolescent children of depressed and nondepressed women. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 43(8), 994-1002.
- Haraldstad, K., Christophersen, K. A., Eide, H., Nativg, G. K., & Helseth, S. (2011). Predictors of health-related quality of life in a sample of children and adolescents: a school survey. *Journal of clinical nursing*, 20(21-22), 3048-3056.
- Harding, L. (2001). Children's quality of life assessments: a review of generic and health related quality of life measures completed by children and adolescents. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 8(2), 79-96.
- Hedström, M., Haglund, K., Skolin, I., & Von Essen, L. (2003). Distressing events for children and adolescents with cancer: Child, parent, an nurse perceptions. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 20(3), 120-132.
- Hildenbrand, A. K., Clawson, K. J., Alderfer, M. A., & Marsac, M. L. (2011). Coping with pediatric cancer: strategies employed by children and their parents to manage cancer-related stressors during treatment. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 28(6), 344-354.
- Hockenberry-Eaton, M., & Minick, P. (1994). Living with cancer: Children with extraordinary courage. Oncology Nursing Forum, 21(6), 1025-1031.

- Hocking, M. C., Kazak, A. E., Schneider, S., Barkman, D., Barakat, L. P., & Deatrick, J. A. (2014). Parent perspectives on family-based psychosocial interventions in pediatric cancer: A mixed-methods approach. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 22(5), 1287-1294.
- Hoekstra-Weebers, J. E. H. M., Heuvel, F., Jaspers, J. P. C., Kamps, W. A., & Klip, E. C. (1988).

 Brief report: An intervention program for parents of pediatric cancer patients: A randomized controlled trial. Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 23(3), 207-214.
- Hoff, A. L., Mullins, L. L., Chaney, J. M., Hartman, V. L., & Domek, D. (2002). Illness uncertainty, perceived control, and psychological distress among adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Research and Theory for Nursing Practice, 16(4), 223.
- Holm, K. E., Patterson, J. M., & Gurney, J. G. (2003). Parental involvement and family-centered care in the diagnostic and treatment phases of childhood cancer: results from a qualitative study. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 20(6), 301-313.
- Holmbeck, G. N., Johnson, S. Z., Wills, K. E., McKernon, W., Rose, B., Erklin, S., & Kemper, T. (2002). Observed and perceived parental overprotection in relation to psychosocial adjustment in preadolescents with a physical disability: The meditational role of behavioral autonomy. Journal of consulting and clinical psychology, 70(1), 96.
- Hommel, K. A., Chaney, J. M., Wagner, J. L., White, M. M., Hoff, A. L., & Mullins, L. L. (2003). Anxiety and depression in older adolescents with long-standing asthma: The role of illness uncertainty. Children's Health Care, 32(1), 51-63.
- Howe, D. (2006). Disabled children, parent—child interaction and attachment. Child & family social work, 11(2), 95-106.
- Hullmann, S. E., Wolfe-Christensen, C., Meyer, W. H., McNall-Knapp, R. Y., & Mullins, L. L. (2010). The relationship between parental overprotection and health-related quality of life

- in pediatric cancer: The mediating role of perceived child vulnerability. Quality Of Life Research: An International Journal Of Quality Of Life Aspects Of Treatment, Care & Rehabilitation, 19(9), 1373-1380. doi:10.1007/s11136-010-9696-3
- Hudson, M. M., Mertens, A. C., Yasui, Y., Hobbie, W., Chen, H., Gurney, J. G., ... & Oeffinger,K. C. (2003). Health status of adult long-term survivors of childhood cancer: a reportfrom the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Jama*, 290(12), 1583-1592.
- Huth-Bocks, A. C., Muzik, M., Beeghly, M., Earls, L., & Stacks, A. M. (2014). Secure base scripts are associated with maternal parenting behavior across contexts and reflective functioning among trauma-exposed mothers. Attachment & human development, 16(6), 535-556.
- Imran, N., Zeshan, M., & Pervaiz, Z. (2020). Mental health considerations for children & adolescents in COVID-19 Pandemic. *Pakistan journal of medical sciences*, 36(COVID19-S4), S67.
- Ingerski, L. M., Modi, A. C., Hood, K. K., Pai, A. L., Zeller, M., Piazza-Waggoner, C., ... & Hommel, K. A. (2010). Health-related quality of life across pediatric chronic conditions.

 The Journal of pediatrics, 156(4), 639-644. https://doiorg.libproxy.unm.edu/10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.11.008
- Jacobsen, P. B., Manne, S. L., Gorfinkle, K., Schorr, O., Rapkin, B., & Redd, W. H. (1990).

 Analysis of child and parent behavior during painful medical procedures. *Health Psychology*, 9(5), 559.
- Jamison, R. N., Lewis, S., & Burish, T. G. (1986). Psychological impact of cancer on adolescents: Self-image, locus of control, perception of illness and knowledge of cancer. Journal of Chronic Diseases, 39(8), 609-617.

- Jay, S. M., Elliott, C., & Varni, J. W. (1986). Acute and chronic pain in adults and children with cancer. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *54*(5), 601.
- Jay, S. M., Ozolins, M., Elliott, C. H., & Caldwell, S. (1983). Assessment of children's distress during painful medical procedures. *Health Psychology*, 2(2), 133-147. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.2.2.133
- Jones, E. E., & Harris, V. A. (1967). The attribution of attitudes. *Journal of experimental social* psychology, 3(1), 1-24.
- Kazak, A. (2002). Journal of Pediatric Psychology (JPP), 1998–2002: Editor's vale dictum. Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 27, 653–663.
- Kazak, A. E. (2005). Evidence-based interventions for survivors of childhood cancer and their families. *Journal of pediatric psychology*, *30*(1), 29-39.
- Kazak, A. E., Alderfer, M. A., Streisand, R., Simms, S., Rourke, M. T., Barakat, L. P., ... &
 Cnaan, A. (2004). Treatment of posttraumatic stress symptoms in adolescent survivors of childhood cancer and their families: a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 18(3), 493.
- Katz, E. R., & Jay, S. M. (1984). Psychological aspects of cancer in children, adolescents, and their families. Clinical Psychology Review, 4, 525-542.
- Kazak, A. E., Barakat, L. P., Alderfer, M., Rourke, M. T., Meeske, K., Gallagher, P. R., ... &
 Stuber, M. L. (2001). Posttraumatic stress in survivors of childhood cancer and mothers:
 Development and validation of the Impact of Traumatic Stressors Interview Schedule
 (ITSIS). Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings, 8(4), 307-323.

- Kazak, A. E., & Barakat, L. P. (1997). Brief report: Parenting stress and quality of life during treatment for childhood leukemia predicts child and parent adjustment after treatment ends. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 22(5), 749-758.
- Kazak, A. E., Boeving, C. A., Alderfer, M. A., Hwang, W. T., & Reilly, A. (2005). Posttraumatic stress symptoms during treatment in parents of children with cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 23(30), 7405-7410.
- Kazak, A. E., Kassam-Adams, N., Schneider, S., Zelikovsky, N., Alderfer, M. A., & Rourke, M. (2005). An integrative model of pediatric medical traumatic stress. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *31*(4), 343-355.
- Kazak, A. E., & Noll, R. B. (2015). The integration of psychology in pediatric oncology research and practice: Collaboration to improve care and outcomes for children and families.

 American Psychologist, 70(2), 146-158. doi:10.1037/a0035695
- Kazak, A. E., Penati, B., Boyer, B. A., Himelstein, B., Brophy, P., Waibel, M. K., et al. (1996).
 A randomized controlled prospective outcome study of a psychological and pharmacological intervention protocol for procedural distress in pediatric leukemia.
 Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 21(5), 615-631.
- Kazak, A. E., Simms, S., Alderfer, M. A., Rourke, M. T., Crump, T., McClure, K., ... & Reilly,
 A. (2005). Feasibility and preliminary outcomes from a pilot study of a brief
 psychological intervention for families of children newly diagnosed with cancer. *Journal of pediatric psychology*, 30(8), 644-655.
- Kennard, B. D., Stewart, S. M., Olvera, R., Bawdon, R. E., Lewis, C. P., & Winick, N. J. (2004).

 Nonadherence in adolescent oncology patients: preliminary data on psychological risk

- factors and relationships to outcome. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, 11(1), 31-39.
- Koerner, A. F., & Fitzpatrick, M. A. (2006). Family conflict communication. *The Sage handbook of conflict communication: Integrating theory, research, and practice*, 159-183.
- Kupst, M., Schulman, J., Naurer, H., Honig, G., Morgan, E., & Fochtman, D. (1984). Coping with pediatric leukemia: A two year follow up. Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 9, 149–163.
- Kupst, M., & Schulman, J. (1988). Long-term coping with pediatric leukemia: A six year follow-up study. Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 13, 7–22.
- Kupst, M. J., Natta, M., Richardson, C., Schulman, J., Lavigne, J., & Das, L. (1995). Family coping with pediatric leukemia: Ten years after treatment. Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 20, 601-617.
- Kvist, S. B., Rajantie, J., Kvist, M., & Siimes, M. A. (1991). Aggression: The dominant psychological response in children with malignant disease. Psychological Reports,68(3 Pt. 2), 11391150.
- Kupst, M. J., Tylke, L., Thomas, L., Mudd, M. E., Richardson, C., & Schulman, J. L. (1982).

 Strategies of intervention with families of pediatric leukemia patients: A longitudinal perspective. Social Work in Health Care, 8(2), 31-47.
- Last, B. F., & Van Veldhuizen, A. M. H. (1996). Information about diagnosis and prognosis related to anxiety and depression in children with cancer aged 8-16 years. European Journal of Cancer, 32A(2), 290-294.

- Law, E. F., Fisher, E., Fales, J., Noel, M., & Eccleston, C. (2014). Systematic review and metaanalysis of parent and family-based interventions for children and adolescents with chronic medical conditions. Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 39(8), 866-886.
- Lee, E. H. (2012). Review of the psychometric evidence of the perceived stress scale. Asian nursing research, 6(4), 121-127.
- Levy, D.M. (1931). Maternal overprotection and rejection. Archives of Neurology and Psychiatry, 25, 886889.
- Levy, J. C. (1980). Vulnerable children: parents' perspectives and the use of medical care. Pediatrics, 65(5), 956-963.
- Lindahl-Norberg, A., & Boman, K. K. (2008). Parent distress in childhood cancer: A comparative evaluation of posttraumatic stress symptoms, depression and anxiety. Acta Oncologica, 47(2), 267-274.
- Lipschitz, S., Weiner, J. V., & Hewitt, M. E. (2005). *Childhood cancer survivorship: Improving care and quality of life*. Wachington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Litzelman, K., Catrine, K., Gangnon, R., & Witt, W. P. (2011). Quality of life among parents of children with cancer or brain tumors: The impact of child characteristics and parental psychosocial factors. *Quality Of Life Research: An International Journal Of Quality Of Life Aspects Of Treatment, Care & Rehabilitation*, 20(8), 1261-1269. doi:10.1007/s11136-011-9854-2
- Lu, Q., Krull, K. R., Leisenring, W., Owen, J. E., Kawashima, T., Tsao, J. C., ... & Robison, L.
 L. (2011). Pain in long-term adult survivors of childhood cancers and their siblings: a
 report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Pain*, 152(11), 2616-2624.

- Manne, S. L., Jacobsen, P. B., Gorfinkle, K., Gerstein, F., & Redd, W. H. (1993). Treatment adherence difficulties among children with cancer: The role of parenting style. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 18(1), 47-62.
- Manne, S. L., Redd, W. H., Jacobsen, P. B., Gorfinkle, K., Schorr, O., & Rapkin, B. (1990).

 Behavioral intervention to reduce child and parent distress during venipuncture. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 58(5), 565-572.
- Mannix, M. M., Feldman, J. M., & Moody, K. (2009). Optimism and health-related quality of life in adolescents with cancer. Child: Care, Health And Development, 35(4), 482-488. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2214.2008.00934.x
- McArthur, B. A., Strother, D., & Schulte, F. (2017). Positive schemas, psychopathology, and quality of life in children with pediatric cancer: A pilot study. Journal Of Psychosocial Oncology, 35(3), 362-375. doi:10.1080/07347332.2017.1283655
- Maikranz, J. M., Steele, R. G., Dreyer, M. L., Stratman, A. C., & Bovaird, J. A. (2006). The relationship of hope and illness-related uncertainty to emotional adjustment and adherence among pediatric renal and liver transplant recipients. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 32(5), 571-581.
- Markson, S., & Fiese, B. H. (2000). Family rituals as a protective factor for children with asthma. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 25(7), 471-480.
- Meeske, K., Katz, E. R., Palmer, S. N., Burwinkle, T., & Varni, J. W. (2004). Parent proxy–reported health-related quality of life and fatigue in pediatric patients diagnosed with brain tumors and acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer*, *101*(9), 2116-2125.

- Meeske, K. A., Patel, S. K., Palmer, S. N., Nelson, M. B., & Parow, A. M. (2007). Factors associated with health-related quality of life in pediatric cancer survivors. *Pediatric blood* & *cancer*, 49(3), 298-305.
- Merritt, K. A., Ornstein, P. A., Spicker, B. (1994). Children's memory for a salient medical procedure: implications for testimony. *Pediatrics*, 94, pp. 17-23.
- Michel, G., Bisegger, C., Fuhr, D. C., & Abel, T. (2009). Age and gender differences in health-related quality of life of children and adolescents in Europe: a multilevel analysis. *Quality of life research*, 18(9), 1147-1157.
- Mishel, M. H. (1984). Perceived uncertainty and stress in illness. Research in Nursing & Health, 7(3), 163-171.
- Mody, R., Li, S., Dover, D. C., Sallan, S., Leisenring, W., Oeffinger, K. C., ... & Neglia, J. P.
 (2008). Twenty-five—year follow-up among survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Blood*, 111(12), 5515-5523.
- Muir, K., & Strnadová, I. (2014). Whose responsibility? Resilience in families of children with developmental disabilities. *Disability & Society*, 29(6), 922-937.
- Mulhern, R. K., & Butler, R. W. (2004). Review Neurocognitive sequelae of childhood cancers and their treatment. *Pediatric Rehabilitation*, 7(1), 1-14.
- Mulhern, R. K., Hancock, J., Fairclough, D., & Kun, L. (1992). Neuropsychological status of children treated for brain tumors: a critical review and integrative analysis. *Medical and pediatric oncology*, 20(3), 181-191.

- Mullins, L. L., Chaney, J. M., Pace, T. M., & Hartman, V. L. (1997). Illness uncertainty, attribution style, and psychological adjustment in older adolescents and young adults with asthma. Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 22, 871–880.
- Mullins, L. L., Fuemmeler, B. F., Hoff, A., Chaney, J. M., Van Pelt, J., & Ewing, C. A. (2004).

 The relationship of parental overprotection and perceived child vulnerability to depressive symptomotology in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus: The moderating influence of parenting stress. Children's Health Care, 33(1), 21-34.
- Mullins, L. L., Wolfe-Christensen, C., Hoff Pai, A. L., Carpentier, M. Y., Gillaspy, S., Cheek, J., & Page, M. (2007). The relationship of parental overprotection, perceived child vulnerability, and parenting stress to uncertainty in youth with chronic illness. Journal of pediatric psychology, 32(8), 973-982.
- Myers, R. M., Balsamo, L., Lu, X., Devidas, M., Hunger, S. P., Carroll, W. L., ... & Kadan-Lottick, N. S. (2014). A prospective study of anxiety, depression, and behavioral changes in the first year after a diagnosis of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer*, 120(9), 1417-1425.
- Nabors, L., Cunningham, J. F., Lang, M., Wood, K., Southwick, S., & Stough, C. O. (2018).

 Family coping during hospitalization of children with chronic illnesses. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 27(5), 1482-1491.
- Nabors, L., Liddle, M., Graves, M. L., Kamphaus, A., & Elkins, J. (2019). A family affair: Supporting children with chronic illnesses. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 45(2), 227-233. https://doi-org.libproxy.unm.edu/10.1111/cch.12635
- Ness, K. K., & Gurney, J.G. (2007). Adverse late effects of childhood cancer and its treatment on health and performance. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 28, 279-302.

- Newton-John, T. (2022). Extending the Biopsychosocial Conceptualisation of Chronic Post

 Surgical Pain in Children and Adolescents: The Family Systems Perspective. *Canadian Journal of Pain*, (just-accepted). https://doiorg.libproxy.unm.edu/10.1080/24740527.2022.2038032
- Noll, R. B., Gartstein, M. A., Vannatta, K., Correll, J., Bukowski, W. M., & Davies, W. H. (1999). Social, emotional, and behavioral functioning of children with cancer. *Pediatrics*, *103*(1), 71-78.
- Nunes, M. R., Jacob, E., Bomfim, E. O., Lopes-Junior, L. C., de Lima, R. G., Floria-Santos, M., & Nascimento, L. C. (2017). Fatigue and health related quality of life in children and adolescents with cancer. *European Journal Of Oncology Nursing*, 2939-46. doi:10.1016/j.ejon.2017.05.001
- Oeffinger, K. C., Mertens, A. C., Sklar, C. A., Kawashima, T., Hudson, M. M., Meadows, A. T., ... & Schwartz, C. L. (2006). Chronic health conditions in adult survivors of childhood cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *355*(15), 1572-1582.
- Ortega, F. B., Ruiz, J. R., Castillo, M. J., & Sjöström, M. (2008). Physical fitness in childhood and adolescence: a powerful marker of health. International journal of obesity, 32(1), 1.
- O'Toole, S., Gallagher, P., Benson, A., Shahwan, A., Austin, J. K., & Lambert, V. (2021). Exploring the relationship between parent–child communication about epilepsy and psychosocial well-being. *Journal of health psychology*, 26(8), 1207-1221.
- Pai, A. L., Drotar, D., Zebracki, K., Moore, M., & Youngstrom, E. (2006). A meta-analysis of the effects of psychological interventions in pediatric oncology on outcomes of psychological distress and adjustment. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *31*(9), 978-988.

- Pai, A. L., Greenley, R. N., Lewandowski, A., Drotar, D., Youngstrom, E., & Peterson, C. C. (2007). A meta-analytic review of the influence of pediatric cancer on parent and family functioning. Journal of Family Psychology, 21(3), 407.
- Paley, B., Cox, M. J., Burchinal, M. R., & Payne, C. C. (1999). Attachment and marital functioning: Comparison of spouses with continuous-secure, earned-secure, dismissing, and preoccupied attachment stances. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *13*(4), 580.
- Palermo, T.M., Schwartz, L., Drotar, D. & McGowan, K. (2002) Parental report of health-related quality of life in children with sickle cell disease. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 25, 269–283.
- Pan, H. T., Wu, L. M., & Wen, S. H. (2017). Quality of life and its predictors among children and adolescents with cancer. *Cancer nursing*, 40(5), 343-351.
- Panepinto, J. A., O'Mahar, K. M., DeBaun, M. R., Loberiza, F. R., & Scott, J. P. (2005). Health-related quality of life in children with sickle cell disease: Child and parent perception. *British journal of haematology*, *130*(3), 437-444. https://doi-org.libproxy.unm.edu/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2005.05622.x
- Parent, J., & Forehand, R. (2017). The Multidimensional Assessment of Parenting Scale (MAPS): development and psychometric properties. Journal of Child and family Studies, 26(8), 2136-2151. DOI 10.1007/s10826-017-0741-5
- Patenaude, A. F., & Kupst, M. J. (2005). Psychosocial functioning in pediatric cancer. *Journal of pediatric psychology*, 30(1), 9-27.
- Patiño-Fernández, A. M., Pai, A. L.H., Alderfer, M., Hwang, W.-T., Reilly, A. and Kazak, A. E. (2008), Acute stress in parents of children newly diagnosed with cancer. Pediatr. Blood Cancer, 50: 289–292. doi:10.1002/pbc.21262

- Patterson, J. M., & Garwick, A. W. (1994). The impact of chronic illness on families: A family systems perspective. *Annals of behavioral medicine*, *16*(2), 131-142.
- Patterson, J. M., Budd, J., Goetz, D., & Warwick, W. J. (1993). Family correlates of 10-year pulmonary health trends in cystic fibrosis. *Pediatrics*, *91*, 383–389.
- Pelletier, W., & Bona, K. (2015). Assessment of financial burden as a standard of care in pediatric oncology. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 62(S5), S619-S631. https://doi-org.libproxy.unm.edu/10.1002/pbc.25714
- Phipps, S., Larson, S., Long, A., & Rai, S. N. (2005). Adaptive style and symptoms of posttraumatic stress in children with cancer and their parents. *Journal of pediatric psychology*, 31(3), 298-309.
- Pierce, L., Hocking, M. C., Schwartz, L. A., Alderfer, M. A., Kazak, A. E., & Barakat, L. P. (2016). Caregiver distress and patient health-related quality of life: Psychosocial screening during pediatric cancer treatment. Psycho-Oncology, doi:10.1002/pon.4171
- Pless, I. B., & Stein, R. E. K. (1996). Intervention research: Lessons from research on children with chronic disorders. *Stress, risk, and resilience in children and adolescents:*Processes, mechanisms, and interventions, 317-353.
- Powers, S. W., Blount, R. L., Bachanas, P. J., Cotter, M. W., & Swan, S. C. (1993). Helping preschool leukemia patients and their parents cope during injections. Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 18(6), 681-695.
- Quittner, A. L., DiGirolamo, A. M., Michel, M., & Eigen, H. (1992). Parental response to cystic fibrosis: A contextual analysis of the diagnosis phase. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 17(6), 683-704.

- Rait, D. S., Ostroff, J. S., Smith, K., Cella, D. F., Tan, C., & Lesko, L. M. (1992). Lives in a balance: perceived family functioning and the psychosocial adjustment of adolescent cancer survivors. Family Process, 31
- Richardson, J. L., Shelton, D. R., Krailo, M., & Levine, A. M. (1990). The effect of compliance with treatment on survival among patients with hematologic malignancies. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 8(2), 356-364.
- Ribeiro, C. A., Coutinho, R. M., Araújo, T. F. D., & Souza, V. S. (2009). A world of procedures and worries: experience of children with a Port-a-Cath. *Acta Paulista de Enfermagem*, 22(SPE), 935-941.
- Robinson, K. E., Gerhardt, C. A., Vannatta, K., & Noll, R. B. (2006). Parent and family factors associated with child adjustment to pediatric cancer. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 32(4), 400-410.
- Roddenberry, A., & Renk, K. (2008). Quality of life in pediatric cancer patients: The relationships among parents' characteristics, children's characteristics, and informant concordance. Journal of Child and Family Studies, 17(3), 402-426.
- Roisman, G. I., Padrón, E., Sroufe, L. A., & Egeland, B. (2002). Earned–secure attachment status in retrospect and prospect. *Child development*, 73(4), 1204-1219.
- Rourke, M. T., Samson, K. K., & Kazak, A. E. (2015). Psychological aspects of long-term survivorship. In *Survivors of childhood and adolescent cancer* (pp. 369-384). Springer, Cham.
- Rubin R. B., Rubin A. M., Graham E. E., Perse E. M., Seibold D. R. (2009). *Communication Research Measures II: A Sourcebook*. New York, NY: Routledge.

- Russell, K. M., Hudson, M., Long, A., & Phipps, S. (2006). Assessment of health-related quality of life in children with cancer. *Cancer*, *106*(10), 2267-2274.
- Sahler, O. J. Z., Dolgin, M. J., Phipps, S., Fairclough, D. L., Askins, M. A., Katz, E. R., ... & Butler, R. W. (2013). Specificity of problem-solving skills training in mothers of children newly diagnosed with cancer: results of a multisite randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 31(10), 1329.
- Santos, S., Crespo, C., Canavarro, M. C., & Kazak, A. E. (2015). Family rituals and quality of life in children with cancer and their parents: The role of family cohesion and hope.

 Journal Of Pediatric Psychology, 40(7), 664-671. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsv013
- Santacroce, S. (2002). Uncertainty, anxiety, and symptoms of posttraumatic stress in parents of children recently diagnosed with cancer. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 19(3), 104-111.
- Santacroce, S. J., & Lee, Y. L. (2006). Uncertainty, posttraumatic stress, and health behavior in young adult childhood cancer survivors. Nursing research, 55(4), 259-266.
- Saunders, R., Jacobvitz, D., Zaccagnino, M., Beverung, L. M., & Hazen, N. (2011). Pathways to earned-security: The role of alternative support figures. *Attachment & human development*, *13*(4), 403-420.; Sroufe, L. A. 1988. Breaking the cycle of abuse. *Child Development*, 59(4): 1080–1088.
- Schrodt, P., Ledbetter, A. M., Jernberg, K. A., Larson, L., Brown, N., & Glonek, K. (2009).

 Family communication patterns as mediators of communication competence in the parent—child relationship. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 26(6-7), 853-874.

- Schrodt, P., Witt, P. L., & Messersmith, A. S. (2008). A meta-analytical review of family communication patterns and their associations with information processing, behavioral, and psychosocial outcomes. Communication monographs, 75(3), 248-269.
- Schultz, K. A. P., Ness, K. K., Whitton, J., Recklitis, C., Zebrack, B., Robison, L. L., ... & Mertens, A. C. (2007). Behavioral and social outcomes in adolescent survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 25(24), 3649-3656.
- Serlachius, A., Badawy, S. M., & Thabrew, H. (2020). Psychosocial challenges and opportunities for youth with chronic health conditions during the COVID-19 pandemic. *JMIR**Pediatrics and Parenting, 3(2), e23057.
- Sharpe, D., & Rossiter, L. (2002). Siblings of children with a chronic illness: A metaanalysis. *Journal of pediatric psychology*, 27(8), 699-710.
- Shekarabi-Ahari, G., Younesi, J., Borjali, A., & Ansari-Damavandi, S. (2012). The effectiveness of group hope therapy on hope and depression of mothers with children suffering from cancer in Tehran. *Iranian journal of cancer prevention*, *5*(4), 183.
- Shojaee, S., Khakhaninejad, M. S., & Najafi, M. (2018). Family communication patterns of individuals with and without disabilities. *Health psychology research*, 6(1), 7080. https://doi.org/10.4081/hpr.2018.7080
- Slavin, L. A., O'Malley, J. E., Koocher, G. P., & Foster, D. J. (1982). Communication of the cancer diagnosis to pediatric patients: Impact on long-term adjustment. American Journal of Psychiatry, 139(2), 179-183.
- Spieth, L. E., & Harris, C. V. (1996). Assessment of health-related quality of life in children and adolescents: an integrative review. *Journal of pediatric psychology*, 21(2), 175-193.

- Spinetta, J. J., & Maloney, L. J. (1978). The child with cancer: Patterns of communication and denial. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 46(6), 1540-1541.
- Spinetta, J. J., Masera, G., Eden, T., Oppenheim, D., Martins, A. G., van Dongen-Melman, J., Siegler, M., Eiser, C., Ben Arush, M. W., Kosmidis, H. V. and Jankovic, M. (2002), Refusal, non-compliance, and abandonment of treatment in children and adolescents with cancer. A report of the SIOP Working Committee on Phychosocial Issues in Pediatric Oncology. Med. Pediatr. Oncol., 38: 114–117. doi:10.1002/mpo.1283
- Stehbens, J. A., Kaleita, T. A., Noll, R. B., MacLean, W. E., O'Brien, R. T., Waskerwitz, M. J., & Hammond, G. D. (1991). CNS prophylaxis of childhood leukemia: what are the long-term neurological, neuropsychological, and behavioral effects?. *Neuropsychology Review*, 2(2), 147-177.
- Stehl, M. L., Kazak, A. E., Alderfer, M. A., Rodriguez, A., Hwang, W. T., Pai, A. L., ... & Reilly, A. (2008). Conducting a randomized clinical trial of a psychological intervention for parents/caregivers of children with cancer shortly after diagnosis. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 34(8), 803-816. https://doi-org.libproxy.unm.edu/10.1093/jpepsy/jsn130
- Stender, J. R. (2003). A prospective study examining the relationship between health-related quality of life and survival in pediatric cancer patients. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 64, 976.
- Steele, R.G., Tripp, G., Kotchick, B.A., Summer, P., & Forehand, R. (1997). Family members' uncertainty about parental chronic illness: The relationship of hemophilia and HIV infection to child functioning. Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 22, 577–591.

- Streisand, R., Kazak, A. E., & Tercyak, K. P. (2003). Pediatric-specific parenting stress and family functioning in parents of children treated for cancer. Children's Health Care, 32(4), 245-256.
- Stuber, M. L., Nader, K., Yasuda, P., Pynoos, R. S., & Cohen, S. (1991). Stress responses after pediatric bone marrow transplantation: preliminary results of a prospective longitudinal study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 30(6), 952-957.
- Suzuki, L. K., & Kato, P. M. (2003). Psychosocial support for patients in pediatric oncology: the influences of parents, schools, peers, and technology. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology*Nursing, 20(4), 159-174.
- Swanston, H., Williams, K., & Nunn, K. (2000). The Psychological Adjustment of Children with Chronic Conditions. Clinical Approaches to Early Intervention in Child and Adolescent Mental Health, Volume 5. Australian Early Intervention Network for Mental Health in Young People, c/o CAMHS Southern, Flinders Medical Center, Bedford Park, South Australia 5042. For full text: http://auseinet. flinders. edu. au..
- Szulczewski, L., Mullins, L. L., Bidwell, S. L., Eddington, A. R., & Pai, A. L. (2017). Metaanalysis: Caregiver and youth uncertainty in pediatric chronic illness. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 42(4), 395-421.
- Tebbi, C. K., Cummings, K. M., Zevon, M. A., Smith, L., Richards, M. and Mallon, J. (1986), Compliance of pediatric and adolescent cancer patients. Cancer, 58: 1179–1184. doi:10.1002/1097-0142(19860901)58:5<1179::AID-CNCR2820580534>3.0.CO;2-E
- Temming, P., & Jenney, M. E. M. (2010). The neurodevelopmental sequelae of childhood leukaemia and its treatment. *Archives of disease in childhood*, *95*(11), 936-940.

- Thomasgard, M. (1998). Parental perceptions of child vulnerability, overprotection, and parental psychological characteristics. Child Psychiatry and Human Development, 28, 223–240.
- Thomasgard, M., & Metz, W. P. (1996). The 2-year stability of parental perceptions of child vulnerability and parental overprotection. Journal of developmental and behavioral pediatrics: JDBP, 17(4), 222-228.
- Theule, J., Wiener, J., Tannock, R., & Jenkins, J. M. (2013). Parenting stress in families of children with ADHD: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 21(1), 3-17.
- Trask, P. C., Paterson, A. G., Trask, C. L., Bares, C. B., Birt, J., & Maan, C. (2003). Parent and adolescent adjustment to pediatric cancer: associations with coping, social support, and family function. Journal of pediatric oncology nursing, 20(1), 36-47.
- Tsai, M., Hsu, J., Chou, W., Yang, C., Jaing, T., Hung, I., & ... Huang, Y. (2013). Psychosocial and emotional adjustment for children with pediatric cancer and their primary caregivers and the impact on their health-related quality of life during the first 6 months. Quality Of Life Research: An International Journal Of Quality Of Life Aspects Of Treatment, Care & Rehabilitation, 22(3), 625-634. doi:10.1007/s11136-012-0176-9
- Upton, P., Lawford, J., & Eiser, C. (2008). Parent–child agreement across child health-related quality of life instruments: a review of the literature. *Quality of life research*, 17(6), 895.
- Uzark, K., Jones, K., Burwinkle, T. M., & Varni, J. W. (2003). The Pediatric Quality of Life
 Inventory™ in children with heart disease. *Progress in Pediatric Cardiology*, 18, 141–
 148.

- Van Ijzendoorn, M. H., Goldberg, S., Kroonenberg, P. M., & Frenkel, O. J. (1992). The relative effects of maternal and child problems on the quality of attachment: A meta-analysis of attachment in clinical samples. Child development, 63(4), 840-858.
- Vannatta, K., Salley, C. G., & Gerhardt, C. A. (2009). Pediatric oncology: Progress and future challenges. *Handbook of pediatric psychology*, 319-333.
- Vannatta, K., Zeller, M., Noll, R. B., & Koontz, K. (1998). Social functioning of children surviving bone marrow transplantation. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 23(3), 169-178.
- Varni, J. W., Katz, E. R., Colegrove, R. J., & Dolgin, M. (1995). Adjustment of children with newly diagnosed cancer: Cross-informant variance. *Journal Of Psychosocial Oncology*, 13(4), 23-38. doi:10.1300/J077V13N04_02
- Varni, J. W., Katz, E. R., Colegrove, R., Jr., & Dolgin, M. (1996). Family functioning predictors of adjustment in children with newly diagnosed cancer: A prospective analysis. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 37(3), 321-328.
- Varni, J. W., Rapoff, M. A., Waldron, S. A., Gragg, R. A., Bernstein, B. H., & Lindsley, C. B. (1996). Chronic pain and emotional distress in children and adolescents. Journal of developmental and behavioral pediatrics: JDBP, 17(3), 154-161.
- Varni, J. W., Seid, M., & Kurtin, P. S. (2001). PedsQL™ 4.0: Reliability and validity of the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory™ Version 4.0 Generic Core Scales in healthy and patient populations. Medical care, 800-812.
- Van Dongen-Melman, J. E. W. M., Van Zuuren, F. J., & Verhulst, F. C. (1998). Experiences of parents of childhood cancer survivors: a qualitative analysis. *Patient education and counseling*, 34(3), 185-200.

- Von Essen, L., Enskär, K., Kreuger, A., Larsson, B., & Sjödén, P. O. (2000). Self-esteem, depression and anxiety among Swedish children and adolescents on and off cancer treatment. *Acta Paediatrica*, 89(2), 229-236.
- Vrijmoet-Wiersma, C. M. J., Egeler, R. M., Koopman, H. M., Bresters, D., Norberg, A. L., & Grootenhuis, M. A. (2010). Parental stress and perceived vulnerability at 5 and 10 years after pediatric SCT. *Bone marrow transplantation*, 45(6), 1102.
- Wahi, A., Phelan, M., Sherman-Bien, S., Sender, L. S., & Fortier, M. A. (2016). The impact of ethnicity, language, and anxiety on quality of life in children with cancer. *Applied Research In Quality Of Life*, 11(3), 817-836. doi:10.1007/s11482-015-9399-6
- Wakefield, C. E., McLoone, J. K., Butow, P., Lenthen, K., & Cohn, R. J. (2011). Parental adjustment to the completion of their child's cancer treatment. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 56(4), 524-531.
- Walker, L. S., & Zeman, J. L. (1992). Parental response to child illness behavior. Journal of pediatric psychology, 17(1), 49-71.
- Wallander, J. L., & Varni, J. W. (1998). Effects of pediatric chronic physical disorders on child and family adjustment. *The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 39(1), 29-46.
- Wang, Y. C., Kraut, R., & Levine, J. M. (2012, February). To stay or leave? The relationship of emotional and informational support to commitment in online health support groups.

 In *Proceedings of the ACM 2012 conference on computer supported cooperative work* (pp. 833-842). https://doi-org.libproxy.unm.edu/10.1145/2145204.2145329
- Warner, E. L., Kirchhoff, A. C., Nam, G. E., & Fluchel, M. (2014). Financial burden of pediatric cancer for patients and their families. *Journal of oncology practice*, *11*(1), 12-18.

- Warren, R., & Aloia, L. (2019). Parenting style, parental stress, and mediation of children's media use. *Western Journal of Communication*, 83(4), 483-500.
- Waters, H. S., & Rodrigues-Doolabh, L. (2001, April). Are attachment scripts the building blocks of attachment representations. In biennial meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development, Washington, DC.
- Waters, E., Stewart-Brown, S., & Fitzpatrick, R. (2003). Agreement between adolescent self-report and parent reports of health and well-being: Results of an epidemiological study. Child: Care Health and Development, 29(6), 501–509.
- Waters, H. S., & Rodrigues-Doolabh, L. (2004). Manual for decoding secure base narratives.

 Unpublished manuscript, State University of New York at Stony Brook.
- Waters, T. E. A., Bosmans, G., Vandevivere, E., Dujardin, A., & Waters, H. S. (2015). Secure base representations in middle childhood across two Western cultures: Associations with parental attachment representations and maternal reports of behavior problems. *Developmental Psychology*, *51*(8), 1013–1025. https://doiorg.libproxy.unm.edu/10.1037/a0039375
- Webster-Stratton, C. (1990). Stress: A potential disruptor of parent perceptions and family interactions. Journal of Clinical Child Psychology, 19(4), 302-312.
- Weekes, D. P., Kagan, S. H., James, K., & Seboni, N. (1993). The phenomenon of hand holding as a coping strategy in adolescents experiencing treatment-related pain. Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing, 10(1), 19-25.
- Weinstein, A. G., Faust, D. S., McKee, L., & Padman, R. (1992). Outcome of short-term hospitalization for children with severe asthma. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 90, 66–75.

- Whitaker, R. C., Dearth-Wesley, T., Herman, A. N., Nagel, K. E., Smith, H. G., & Weil, H. F. (2020). Association of childhood family connection with flourishing in young adulthood among those with type 1 diabetes. *JAMA network open*, *3*(3), e200427-e200427.
- White, M. M., Chaney, J. M., & Mullins, L. L. (2005). Children's perceived illness uncertainty as a moderator in the parent-child distress relation in juvenile rheumatic diseases.

 Rehabilitation Psychology, 50, 224–231.
- White, M. M., Chaney, J. M., Mullins, L. L., Wagner, J. L., Hommel, K. A., Andrews, N. R., & Jarvis, J. N. (2005). Children's Perceived Illness Uncertainty as a Moderator in the Parent-Child Distress Relation in Juvenile Rheumatic Diseases. *Rehabilitation**Psychology, 50(3), 224-231. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0090-5550.50.3.224
- Whitsett, S. F., Gudmundsdottir, M., Davies, B., McCarthy, P., & Friedman, D. (2008).

 Chemotherapy-related fatigue in childhood cancer: correlates, consequences, and coping strategies. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 25(2), 86-96.
- Wiener, L., Kazak, A. E., Noll, R. B., Patenaude, A. F., & Kupst, M. J. (2015). Standards for the psychosocial care of children with cancer and their families: an introduction to the special issue. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 62(S5), S419-S424.
- Wijlaars, L. P., Gilbert, R., & Hardelid, P. (2016). Chronic conditions in children and young people: learning from administrative data. *Archives of disease in childhood*, *101*(10), 881-885.
- Williams, L. K., Lamb, K. E., & McCarthy, M. C. (2014). Behavioral side effects of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia treatment: the role of parenting strategies. *Pediatric blood* & *cancer*, 61(11), 2065-2070.

- Wolfradt, U., Hempel, S., & Miles, J. N. (2003). Perceived parenting styles, depersonalisation, anxiety and coping behaviour in adolescents. Personality and individual differences, 34(3), 521-532.
- Wright, L. J., Afari, N., & Zautra, A. (2009). The illness uncertainty concept: a review. *Current pain and headache reports*, *13*(2), 133-138. https://doi-org.libproxy.unm.edu/10.1093/jpepsy/jsw097
- Young, K. D. (2005). Pediatric procedural pain. Annals of emergency medicine, 45(2), 160-171.
- Zebrack, B. J., Zeltzer, L. K., Whitton, J., Mertens, A. C., Odom, L., Berkow, R., & Robison, L.
 L. (2002). Psychological outcomes in long-term survivors of childhood leukemia,
 Hodgkin's disease, and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: a report from the Childhood Cancer
 Survivor Study. *Pediatrics*, 110(1), 42-52.